CZECH UNIVERSITY OF LIFE SCIENCES PRAGUE

**Faculty of Tropical AgriSciences** 



# Zinc (ZnO) and Titanium (TiO<sub>2</sub>) Nanoparticles effect on micropropagation of *Salvia rosmarinus Spenn*

MASTER'S THESIS

Prague 2024

Author: Bc. Muhammad Waqas Ashraf

Chief supervisor: Prof. Dr. Ing. Eloy Fernández Cusimamani

## Declaration

I hereby declare that I have done this thesis entitled "Zinc (ZnO) and Titanium (TiO<sub>2</sub>) Nanoparticles Effect on Micropropagation of *Salvia rosmarinus Spenn*" independently, all texts in this thesis are original, and all the sources have been quoted and acknowledged by means of complete references and according to Citation rules of the FTA.

In Prague 25<sup>th</sup> August 2024

.....

Bc. Muhammad Waqas Ashraf

## Acknowledgements

I would like to sincerely thank my supervisor Prof. Dr. Ing. Eloy Fernández Cusimamani, from the Department of Crop Sciences and Agroforestry, Faculty of Tropical AgriSciences, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague for her professional and thoughtful advice, patience, and time. I am also grateful to the Ing. Asad Walayat for his helpful advises and unconditional support. My thanks also go to my family and loved ones who always supported me.

## Abstract

Salvia rosmarinus is an aromatic, perennial, evergreen shrub belonging to Lamiaceae or mint family that is frequently cultivated as an ornamental and culinary herb. It is a rich source of antioxidants and anti-inflammatory. These plants germinate slowly from seed, and farmers find successful propagation from stem cuttings, layering and division. Nanoparticles effect plant growth during micropropagation, reduce contamination, and serve as an alternative in plant tissue culture. They have unique physicochemical properties like high surface area, high reactivity, tunable pore size and particle morphology, and serve as "magic bullets" to release their content at target site in plant. Our study deals with the effect of Zinc oxide and Titanium dioxide nanoparticles on *in vitro* micropropagation of *Salvia rosmarinus*. Nodal explants cultivated on basic MS medium were supplemented with Zinc Oxide (ZnO) and Titanium Dioxide (TiO<sub>2</sub>) nanoparticles in different concentration (20 mg/l, 40 mg/l and 60 mg/l) for a 60-day period. Measurements of number of sprouts, number of nodes, sprout length, number of roots and root length were measured every 10 days. The results showed the highest regeneration percentage, number of nodes and root length in plants grown on MS media (control group) among all plants. Application of 20 mg/l and 60 mg/l of ZnO showed the biggest sprout length and number of nodes respectively as compared to control and treated plants. The application of 20 mg/l of  $TiO_2$  showed greatest number of sprouts among all plants. Overall, ZnO showed their best result at 20 mg/l and 60 mg/l but TiO<sub>2</sub> at 20 mg/l because their increasing concentration showed toxic effects on the plants growth. In future, the nanoparticles application could act as an environmentally friendly technique to show their positive response towards the plants growth through minimizing the microbial growth on growth media.

Key words: Growth parameters, Micropropagation, Salvia rosmarinus, TiO<sub>2</sub>, ZnO

## Contents

1. Intro 2. Literatu	uucuon . re Revie	w	1
2.1 Sah	via rosma	<i>rinus</i> Spenn	3
2.1. 5a.	Taxono	omv	
2.1.2.	Distrib	ution	
2.1.3.	Soil ma	anagement	4
2.1.4.	Morphe	ology	
2.1.5.	Rosem	ary Propagation	5
2.1.6.	Chemic	cal composition	5
2.1.7.	Antiox	idant activity	5
2.1.8.	Uses in	food and medicine	6
2.1.9.	Role of ro	osemary in agroforestry	6
2.2. Nar	noparticle	S	8
2.2.1.	Classif	ication of Nanoparticlec	8
2.2.2.	Types of	of nanoparticles in plant applications	
2.2.	.2.1.	Nano Pesticides	9
2.2	2.2.2.	Nano fertilizers	10
2.2	.2.3.	Nano biosensor	10
2.2.3.	Meta	l Nanoparticles	10
2.2	.3.1.	Zinc oxide (ZnO) nanoparticles	10
2.2	.3.2.	Titanium dioxide (TiO <sub>2</sub> ) nanoparticles	11
2.2.4.	Mech	anism of nanoparticles interaction	12
2.2.5.	Role	of nanoparticles in agriculture	13
2.2.6.	Enha	ncing stress tolerance in plants	13
.3. Plan	nt tissue o	culture	14
2.3.1. Mic	cropropag	ration	14

2.3.2.	Role of nanoparticles in plant tissue culture	15
2.3.3.	Role of nanoparticles in micropropagation	16
2.3.4.	Antimicrobial properties of nanoparticles	16
2.3.5.	Nanoparticles in plant biotechnology	17
3.	Aims of the Thesis	19
3.1.	Hypothesis	19
4.	Methods	20
4.1.	Plant material	20
4.2.	Micropropagation methodology	20
4.2.	1. Growth medium preparation	
4.2.	2. Medium sterilization	22
4.2.	3. Preparation of aseptic condition	22
4.2.	4. Micropropagation and application of nanoparticles	22
4.3.	Data calculation	24
4.4.	Statistical analysis	24
5. ]	Results	25
5.1.	Plant regeneration (%)	25
5.2.	Number of sprouts per plants	25
5.3.	Length of sprouts (mm)	
5.4.	Number of nodes per sprouts	
5.5.	Number of roots per plants	26
5.6.	Length of roots (mm)	27
6.	Discussion	30
7.	Conclusions	
8.	References	34

## List of tables

Table 1: Composition of MS medium (Murashige & Skoog 1962)	21
Table 2: List of concentration of Treatments used in the experiment	23

## List of figures

Figure 1: Salvia rosmarinus Spenn
Figure 2: Effect of different concentrations of ZnO and TiO <sub>2</sub> nanoparticles on (A)
regeneration %, (B) mean number of sprouts, (C) mean length of sprouts, (D)
mean number of nodes, (E) mean number of roots and (F) mean length of roots
of Salvia rosmarinus
Figure 3: Phenotypic results with ZnO nanoparticles (A) 0mg/l, (B) 20mg/l, (C) 40 mg/l,
and (D) 60mg/l concentrations
Figure 4: Phenotypic results with TiO <sub>2</sub> nanoparticles (A) 0mg/l, (B) 20mg/l, (C) 40 mg/l,
and (D) 60mg/l concentrations

## List of the abbreviations used in the thesis

ZnO	Zinc Oxide
TiO <sub>2</sub>	Titanium Dioxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
pH	potential of hydrogen
NPs	Nanoparticles
CNTs	Carbon nanotubes
SiO <sub>2</sub>	Silicon Dioxide
UV	Ultraviolet
Zn	Zinc
Ag NPs	Silver nanoparticles
MS	Murashige & Skoog
КОН	potassium hydroxide
$CO_2$	Carbon dioxide
mg/l	milligrams per liter
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
IBA	Indole-3-butyric acid
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species

## 1. Introduction

Salvia rosmarinus Spenn. also known as rosemary, is a plant that belongs to the Lamiaceae family (Malvezzi et al. 2020). It is native to dry scrub and rocky places in the Mediterranean areas of southern Europe to western Asia. It shows its best growth in neutral to acidic soil with moderate fertility. It is a widely recognized aromatic plant that is used for decorative, cooking, medical and ritual purposes (Ribeiro-Santos et al. 2015). It possesses antimicrobial, antioxidant, antiviral and antispasmodic properties (Skocibusic et al. 2006). This plant contains a large number of secondary metabolites such as essential oils, terpenoid compounds, and phenolic derivatives (Arikat et al. 2004). The oil extracted from its aerial parts is consumed in the making of liqueurs and perfumes (Ciani et al. 2000).

Plant tissue culture is a biotechnological technique that was widely used for the plant breeding and micropropagation, transgenic plants regeneration, crops improvement, virus elimination, and healthy plant material preservation (Drew et al. 2018). The optimization of mineral elements in the medium generally improves the differentiation and development of explants (Hameg et al. 2020). The application of nanoparticles in the growth medium has efficiently played a great part in callus formation, organogenesis, somatic embryogenesis, somaclonal variation, genetic transformation, and the secondary metabolites production since the last decades (Kim et al. 2017). Nanoparticles biogenic synthesis has gained a great attention because these particles are suitable, non-toxic, and environmentally friendly (Khan et al. 2019).

Application of nanoparticles is a novel area that improves the growth, yield, and survivability of economic and medicinal plants (Alenezi et al. 2022). The incorporation of nanotechnology in agricultural activities through the application of Zinc Oxide and Titanium Dioxide nanoparticles is revolutionizing the plant micropropagation. These nanoparticles are favorable antimicrobial agents due to their photocatalytic activity, particle size, high penetration and safety for multicellular organisms (Xia et al. 2017). These nanoparticles may be used as bactericidal and fungicidal drugs for sterilization of explants during clonal micropropagation of plants while taking account the possible phytotoxicity of these particles (Zakharovaa & Gusev 2019).

Recent studies had shown that application of ZnO nanoparticles altered the germination and growth of rice by promoting the early plant development (Aghakhani et al. 2018) and is being used to lessen abiotic stress specifically salinity stress (Alharby et al. 2016). TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles are effective for improving wheat growth and their widespread application encompasses agricultural activities (Faraz et al. 2020; Hadi & Abass 2021).

Micropropagation causes microbial contamination that decreases the regenerative ability, callus growth, adventitious shoot growth, and even tissue death of explant (El-Banna et al. 2021). The main objective in the micropropagation of plants by nanoparticles is to improve their growth by enhancing the uptake of nutrients and controlling microbial contaminants (Mokbel et al. 2017). Agroforestry strengthens food security by increasing crop productivity and soil fertility as well as expand income sources. In agroforestry systems, nanotechnology restores soil health by monitoring microbial growth (Zhang et al. 2019) and remediates polluted soil (Mukherjee et al. 2018) to enhance the growth of different crops and their development (Alabdallah et al. 2020). Our study deals with the effect of ZnO and TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles in different concentrations on the *in vitro* micropropagation of *Salvia rosmarinus* by using nodal segment of this plant.

## 2. Literature review

## 2.1. Salvia rosmarinus Spenn

#### **2.1.1. Taxonomy**

Lamiaceae family is one of the largest dicotyledonous plants families that includes almost 236 genera and more than 7100 species (Aghakhani et al. 2018). This family includes a variety of scented herbs and shrubs such as basil, mint, oregano, thyme, and lavender (Musolino et al. 2023). Some genera of this family contain well-known therapeutic and aromatic plants to produce specialized metabolites, like essential oils and various non-volatile constituents with multiple pharmacological activities and several applications in the food industry, cosmetics, and medicines (Pandey et al. 2017).

The genus *Salvia* is the major genus in the Lamiaceae family and comprises of 900 species (Hao & Xiao 2015). These species are known for the broad spectrum of their biological activities that possess antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, antinociceptive, anticancer, antimicrobial, antidiabetic, antiangiogenic, hepatoprotective, cognitive and memory-enhancing properties. The medical activity of genus *Salvia* is associated with important phytochemicals like phenolic acids, terpenoids and flavonoids (Zhumaliyev et al. 2023).

Rosemary is the common name used for *Salvia rosmarinus* Spenn. that belongs to the Lamiaceae family and is an oldest shrub native to Mediterranean. It is a well-known aromatic and ornamental plant (Leporini et al. 2020). The name generally used, *Rosmarinus officinalis* L. is a synonym of the real name, *Salvia rosmarinus* as current evidence had showed that *Rosmarinus* L. are converted in Salvia L. (Drew et al. 2017).

## 2.1.2. Distribution

It is mainly distributed in the western-central part of the Mediterranean basin, even though it was first found in different sites of eastern part (Morales et al. 2010). It is naturally cultivated along western and southern coasts of Turkey, and is widely grown in France, Italy, Spain, Portugal, and Greece (Malayoglu 2010). It is very common on the seashore and is grown in the sea climate (Sasikumar 2012). It is a xeromorphic plant that flourishes naturally on cliffs, sand and stony regions near the sea across the globe that includes Africa, Europe and Asia (Ribeiro-Santos et al. 2015).

#### 2.1.3. Soil management

Land for rosemary cultivation should be free from weeds, shades, and ploughed two to three times to make the soil favorable for the seedlings. Rosemary grows well in sandy loam soil but soil with high clay content and water lodged area is not suitable. It is cultivated on loamy soil with proper irrigation in an open and sunny position (Ribeiro-Santos et al. 2015). It can be harvested 3-4 times in one year and can last for up to 7 years. It can averagely withstand salt and drought stress (Berdahl & Mckeague 2015). Ideal pH for its growth ranges from 6 to 7.5, that is intolerant of heavy clay and poor drainage (Khongthaw et al. 2023). The acid tolerance of rosemary is a good opportunity in areas affected by soil acidity. Soil acidity is the major land degradation problem caused by high rainfall and leaching, acidic parent material, decaying organic matter and harvesting of high yielding crops (Kochian et al. 2004).

#### 2.1.4. Morphology

Rosemary is an evergreen, rounded shrub with aromatic, small needle-like and grey-green leaves (Ribeiro-Santos et al. 2015). It is a perennial shrub with height of 1 to 2 meters with erect branches. Its leaves are evergreen, 2-4 cm long and 2-5 mm wide, with upperside green, and underside white with small thick woolly hairs (Zigene al. 2023). Leaves are without petiole and flowers are arranged in clusters along the axis. All the leaves blossoms and scented members are aromatic. The flowers are usually white to pink or white and occasionally purple that appears in late spring. Four nut fruit with brown color, firm, round and its egg is small inside the fruit (El-Rajoob et al. 2008). It is characterized by cymose inflorescences, brown, square and woody trunks with tight branches and scratched bark (Begum et al. 2013).



Figure 1. Salvia rosmarinus Spenn

#### 2.1.5. Rosemary Propagation

The Propagation of rosemary can be done by seeds or by using vegetative parts like layering and cutting (Plant production directorate, 2012). Rosemary cuttings used for seedling preparation is top 10-15cm part taken from disease free mother plant not more than one year old. The bottom two thirds of the cuttings are taken from leaves that are inserted in a proper growth media. The cuttings can be prepared in green house and transplanted to the main field after 60-90 days. Rooting hormones help in root formation within 2-4 weeks. Rosemary stems bearing flowers, old woody and very young plants are not suitable for cutting preparation (Mekonnen et al. 2016). Moreover, mass propagation by tissue culture technique is also an alternative means of rosemary propagation (Banjaw et al. 2024).

## 2.1.6. Chemical composition

The success of *S. rosmarinus* is associated with its phytochemical composition, which consists of bioactive compounds such as polyphenols and phenolic terpenoids, and rich amounts of essential oil (Leporini et al. 2020). Its polyphenols include rosmarinic acid, while its phenolic terpenoids include carnosic acid, carnosol, ursolic acid and caffeic acid (Bai et al. 2010; Borras-Linares et al. 2014). Essential oils are mainly characterized by monoterpene hydrocarbons (39.32-40.70%) and oxygenated monoterpenes (36.08-39.47%). The 1,8-cineole,  $\alpha$ -pinene, camphor, and trans-caryophyllene being the best prominent compounds (Leporini et al. 2020).

## 2.1.7. Antioxidant activity

It is a widely recognized species around the world with the maximum antioxidant activity (Drew et al. 2017). Their powerful antioxidant activity is related with the synergistic actions of

several metabolites and the presence of polyphenol, rosmarinic acid, and phenolic diterpenes i.e. carnosol and carnosic acid (Raskovic et al. 2014). It affects the quality of the oil to avoid the production of free radicals and losses of a desirable effective compounds (Santo & Kalidas 2012).

#### 2.1.8. Uses in food and medicine

*S.rosmarinus* can be used in the preparation of food owing to its flavoring characteristics (Ghorbani & Esmaeilizadeh 2017). It has been used as a flavoring and spicing agent or as ingredients in cosmetics, perfumes, and lotions (Sarkic & Stappen 2018). Aqueous extract of rosemary positively affected the sensory properties of yoghurt i.e. flavour, texture and appearance (Ali et al. 2021). In Ethiopia, fresh leaves of rosemary known as 'Asmerino' or 'YetibseKetel' are utilized as a mean seasoning meat and to add flavors to food in many diners and hotels (Mekonnen & Manahile 2017).

It has been traditionally added in herbal medication (Apostolides et al. 2013) due to its digestive, diuretic, balsamic (Colica et al. 2018) and rubefacient properties (Ferreira 2010). It is also important in the preparation of folk and oral medicine to release renal colic, dysmenorrhea and muscle contractions due to therapeutic properties (Ribeiro-Santos et al. 2015). It is utilized to cure the nervous, cardiovascular, gastrointestinal, genitourinary, menstrual, hepatic, reproductive and respiratory systems diseases (Begum et al. 2013). It is also highly beneficial in the treatment of depression, neurological diseases, obesity and inflammation (Shimira et al. 2022). It also possesses anti-inflammatory, anti-microbial, hypoglycemic, anti-diabetes, antioxidant properties and is able to avoid the neurovegetative diseases (Garcia et al. 2016). It improves the digestion, increases mental and concentration capacity and is fruitful in releasing stress and anxiety during late age (Brindisi et al. 2020).

#### 2.1.9. Role of rosemary in agroforestry

Agroforestry emerges as a sustainable cultivation pattern that finds resonance in farming of rosemary (Seker et al. 2023; Palada et al. 2005). The strategic incorporation of rosemary with compatible tree species adapts biodiversity, restricts soil erosion, and provides a resistant ecosystem for the herb to grow. This symbiotic relationship indicates the relation between agriculture and ecology, representing the principle of sustainability in cultivation practices (Lehmann et al. 2020; Nelson & Shilling 2005).

In addition to industrial and cultural benefits, rosemary also possesses social and environmental advantages. The production of rosemary has become business because it offers employment opportunities. In various studies, the incorporation of rosemary plant strips on farmland recovers the prevailing systems through increasing complex biological interactions. Rosemary cultivation in hilly areas offers a useful system to trap agricultural runoff and dropping soil erosion to avoid the degradation of soil. It has been indicated that rate of yield by the incorporation of rosemary to the farmland could be controlled by rosemary leaf or essential oil yield (Zuazo et al. 2008).

**Climate adaptability:** Rosemary grows best in areas with an average temperature ranging from 20 to 25°C, receiving average annual rainfall above 500 mm and altitude range from 1500 up to 3000 m above sea level (German et al. 2016). Rosemary grows in dry and warm conditions and is adapted to different soil types in varying climates. Suitable areas for its growth are moderate and sub-tropical regions but temperature below -3 °C hinder growth. It is widely grown in lower mountain forests, dry valleys in Bolivia, rocky hills in Bermuda and European areas. The increased Rosemary's cultivation is related to their regenerative capabilities making it valuable for decorative and medicinal prospective (Khongthaw et al. 2023; Aziz et al. 2022).

**Intercropping:** Rosemary plant spacing depends on variety, production purpose and management practices. Rosemary can be cultivated either by mono cropping or multiple cropping system owing to its compatibility with other crops. Nigussie et al. (2017) reported the yield and competitive advantage of intercropping rosemary with carrot. Moreover, insertion of onion with 80% a rosemary population density increased yield rate and effectiveness on individual planted crop per unit area specified by greater ratio of land equivalent and relative crowding coefficient (Adafre et al. 2019).

**Pest control:** The increasing crop biodiversity, such as intercropping, can enhance pests' natural enemies in agroecosystems (Batista et al. 2017). Rosemary is being cultivated as an intercrop to reduce the damage caused by insects in the agricultural and horticultural systems of *Capsicum annuum* (Ben et al. 2017) and *Camellia sinensis* fields (Zhang et al. 2014). Rosemary showed its effectiveness in preventing aphid, thrips, and whitefly attack by acting as repulsive intercrop in the field because rosemary intercropping did not harm the growth of predatory bug *O. sauter* and *E. formosa* on sweet pepper (Li et al. 2021).

### 2.2. Nanoparticles

Nanoparticles (NPs) are the chemical entities with at least one of their three dimensions lower than 100 nm and have significantly different physical, chemical and biological properties to their macro-sized, and high surface area to volume ratio to facilitate the contact with plant cells (Jaberzadeh et al. 2013). In recent times, the nano-sized or "nanoparticles" have gained a lot of attention due to our still-increasing ability to synthesize and manipulate these materials (Nowacka & Bucheli 2007). The materials used to prepare nanoparticles are metals and their oxides, lipids, emulsions and ceramics. Recently, plants are also generally used in the preparation of nanoparticles due to less toxicity and low cost (Khan et al. 2019).

Nanoparticles are extremely useful in agriculture because they can alleviate the effects of plant diseases and are active components in nano-fertilizers (Liu et al. 2019; Gkanatsiou et al. 2019). They may also be used in the preparation of several sensors, herbicides, phytoimmunity stimulants, nano pesticides and agents to remove pesticide from plants and soil (Shang et al. 2019). Nanoparticles are also used in other fields such as cosmetic, energy, electronic, pharmaceutical, biomedical, catalytic, environmental, and material applications (Nowacka & Bucheli 2007). The natural nanoparticles can improve world health by increasing the human's immunity with less drug toxicity and high biocompatibility by enhancing the establishment of a pure green environments for all living organisms on the planet (Abada Abasi et al. 2024).

Nanotechnology is the fabrication, characterization and utilization of nanomaterials. Recently, nanotechnology has opened new areas of interest for researchers in different fields including industry, medicine, energy and agriculture (Alabdallah & Alzahrani 2020). Moreover, the use of nanoparticles provides an opportunity for sustainability due to their distinct physiochemical features in the biosystem (El-Badri et al. 2021).

#### 2.2.1. Classification of Nanoparticle

Nanoparticles exist in different forms, and they are classified into three classes due to their composition, properties and potential applications (Abdal Dayem et al. 2017).

**Organic Nanoparticle:** The nanoparticle in this class are proteins, carbohydrates, lipids, polymers, and organic materials (Pan & Zhong 2016). These NPs are biodegradable and non-toxic with a hollow core and are produced by non-covalent intermolecular forces to make them more labile. Dendrimers, liposomes, micelles, and protein complexes like ferritin are the common

examples of organic nanoparticles (Ng & Zheng 2015). These nanoparticles are typically used in the treatment of cancer and in the delivery of targeted drug (Gujrati et al. 2014).

**Carbon-based Nanoparticle:** This class includes carbon quantum dots, fullerenes, and carbon black nanoparticles. These nanoparticles are used in medicine delivery, storage of energy, photovoltaic appliances, as well as environmental sensor to evaluate microbial ecology because of their exceptional electrical conductivity, electron affinity, high strength, visual and sorption features (Mauter & Elimelech 2008). Carbon nanoparticles and nano-diamonds are examples of complex carbon-based nanoparticles. Their less toxic and biocompatibility properties enable them efficient in drug delivery in addition to tissue engineering (Mochalin et al. 2012).

**Inorganic Nanoparticle:** These nanoparticles are lacking carbon or organic constituents and usually are metal, ceramic and semiconductor (Nascimento et al. 2018). Certain metal nanoparticles show distinctive thermal, magnetic, and biological properties which make them vital substances in nanodevices for physical, chemical, biological, biomedical and medicinal applications (Khan et al. 2019). Semiconductor materials are different from bulk materials (Dreaden et al. 2012) and are significant in photo catalysis, optical, and electronic engineering (Sun et al. 2000). Ceramic nanoparticles include carbonates, carbides, phosphates, metal, and metal oxides that includes titanium and calcium (Thomas et al. 2015). Their strength and load ability make them valuable in biomedical uses (Moreno-Vega et al. 2012) as well as in catalysis, dye breakdown, photonics, and optoelectronics (Thomas et al. 2015).

## 2.2.2. Types of nanoparticles in plant applications

#### 2.2.2.1. Nano Pesticides

Pesticides are used to increase and improve the crop yield by protecting plants from plant diseases and insects (Jampilek & Kralova 2017). The use of pesticides is lethal and toxic for the environment with many issues such as the application of pesticides at a high concentration harms the ecosystem, increase bioaccumulation, making the soil infertile, and disrupts the microbiota (Meena et al. 2020). The production of effective and non-toxic pest killer is difficult and costly; however, nanotechnology offers a novel solution (Sasson et al. 2007) with the certain advancement in the various areas of agriculture and food. Nanotechnology finds its application in the protection of plant against pests rather than it expands its application to reduce waste, control plant growth, improve food quality and attain increasing global food production (Jampilek & Kralova 2017). The

most common nano-pesticides trials are nano-herbicides, nano-insecticides, nano-nematocides, and nano-fungicides (Mittal et al. 2020).

#### 2.2.2.2. Nano fertilizers

Nano fertilizers are eco-friendly fertilizers with the ability to improve the application fertilizers and minimize the mineral loss particularly phosphorous and nitrogen (Dimkpa & Bindraban 2017). It causes the slow and organised release of nutrients to their targeted place to avoid the environmental and water pollution (Dwivedi et al. 2016). These fertilizers give nutrients to plants and improves their effect even applied in small quantity (Rameshaiah et al. 2015). The nutrients uptake can be enhanced by encapsulating the fertilizers in nano shape that diminishes the loss of nutrient, boost the quality and yield of crop alongwith minimizing the environmental degradation. The foliar spray of nanofertilizers also protect the plants from stress (Tarafdar et al. 2012). Nanoparticulate fertilizers includes some other nanoparticles like CNTs, TiO<sub>2</sub> and SiO<sub>2</sub> to improve the growth of different plants. The mixture of TiO<sub>2</sub> and SiO<sub>2</sub> increases nitrogen fixation, growth, and improve the germination of seed in soybeans (Lu et al. 2002).

#### 2.2.2.3. Nano biosensor

Nanotechnology could increase the activity of any biosensor to find its importance in agriculture. Nano sensors could exhibit their strength in different fields i.e. cultivation and harvesting of crops, pathogen recognition, soil pH and nutrients. Nanoparticles possesses unique surface composition, electrical and thermal features, improved sensitivities and detection making them appropriate for sensing systems (Yao et al. 2014). A new and highly output smart plant sensing method is used in the development of stress tolerance cultivars of plants by increasing the use of restricted resources (nutrients and water) for increasing crop yield. This smart nano sensors is used to optimize the growth of plant and stress can be identified accurately through wireless and optical signals for real-time observation of plant health (Giraldo et al. 2019).

#### 2.2.3. Metal Nanoparticles

#### 2.2.3.1. Zinc oxide (ZnO) nanoparticles

ZnO nanoparticles have high binding energy, refractive index, thermal conductivity, and piezoelectric nature, high absorbance of UV light and antibacterial properties. Their size can vary from a few nanometres to the higher limit size of nanoparticle (100 nm) and a suitable synthesis

method is selected to adjust their shape easily. The surface of Zinc oxide nanoparticles is often modified with the inorganic compounds and organic compounds to enhance their stability in colloidal suspension to improve their effects on plants and reduce their potential toxicity (Kołodziejczak-Radzimska et al. 2014). Bare and surface-modified Zinc oxide nanoparticles find their application in the laboratory, greenhouse, and field experiments on different crops because they have UV protective and antimicrobial properties and play their nutritional role by slowly releasing the Zn for plants (Kolencik et al. 2020; Tarafdar et al. 2012).

ZnO NPs can be dissolve easily as compared to other nanoparticle (Bian et al. 2011) that affect plant growth partially due to their nano-specific attributes, and largely by releasing the Zn as an essential element for various functions on the cellular level (Singh et al. 2021). These nanoparticles are very crucial in the growth of plant and provide protection to different plant species against salt stress (Gaafar et al. 2020). These nanoparticles increase the seed germination, antioxidants activity and production of protein (Garcia-Lopez et al. 2018; Salama et al. 2019), photosynthesis and grain yields (Faizan et al. 2018; Hussain et al. 2021), and release of essential minerals (Peralta-Videa et al. 2014).

#### 2.2.3.2. Titanium dioxide (TiO<sub>2</sub>) nanoparticles

TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles are semiconductive material that are insoluble having a high refractive index, UV absorption, photocatalytic and antimicrobial features (Macwan et al. 2011). Their size can be varied from a few nanometres up to 100 nm in any direction and their form can be modified during the synthesis in order to get nanorods and spherical nanoparticles (Silva et al. 2013). The surface properties of TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles are often changed to obtain their stability, increase their beneficial effects and reduce their harmlessness. These nanoparticles have a wide range of applications in various areas of human and agriculture (Chen & Mao 2007). Their environmental uses include purification of water, destruction of pollutants, and coating for antimicrobial activity, biosensing and drug supply (Jarosz et al. 2016).

Application of  $TiO_2$  nanoparticles protect the seeds, enhance their germination and plant growth, and control crop diseases (Servinet al. 2015), destroy pesticides and find their remains (Aragay et al. 2012). These nanoparticles also act as functional photocatalyst to enhance the photosynthesis and plant growth at certain wavelengths (Lei et al. 2007). These nanoparticles are also used to enhance growth of root and shoot, and seed yield. These nanoparticles also increase the production of chlorophyll, soluble leaf protein and carotenoids content (Raliya et al. 2015) and increase the usage of various essential nutrients (Tan et al. 2017). The application of these NPs induces stem elongation, 1000 grains weight and yield in barley (Moaveni et al. 2011). Their foliar application also increases the yields of coriander (Khater et al. 2015).

#### 2.2.4. Mechanism of Nanoparticles interaction

NPs are applied to the roots or as a foliar spray to improve growth, chlorophyll content, photosynthesis, nutrient absorption, stress tolerance, crop yield and quality (El-Said et al. 2014). After application of NPs to the plant, NPs firstly stick to the surface of root, then these small sized NPs penetrate to enter into the epidermal layer of cell wall and cell membrane through the porous cell wall of roots. Here, NPs create large pores in the cell wall to help in internalization of bigger sized NPs into the roots. Then these NPs are moved into the adjacent cells via plasmodesmata (Schwab et al. 2016; Su et al. 2019). After passing through the root epidermis and cortex, NPs enters into the endodermis through the porous cell wall of the endodermal cells. Then NP is efficiently uptaken in the Casparian strip that is a confined impregnation of the primary cell wall encircling the endodermal layer in form of a belt (Geldner 2013). After that, NPs enter into the xylem where the efficient uptake of NPs into roots is affected by transpiration rate and is considered an important factor for the efficient delivery of NPs in plants (Spielman-Sun et al. 2020).

In foliar spray, NPs can directly interact with leaf cells through stomata or cuticular pathways (Eichert & Goldbach 2008). NPs upto 50 nm enter plant leaves following the cuticular uptake pathways where composition of protective layer (cuticle) and surface properties of NPs can affect the effectiveness of NPs uptake (Avellan et al. 2019). The cuticular pathway is followed mostly to small NPs while the stomatal pathway is the major pathway for the uptake of foliar NPs in plants (Yu et al. 2013). After crossing the leaf epidermis either stomata or the cuticular pathway, foliar NPs are mainly distributed in plants by phloem transport by two major pathways: firstly directly into intracellular spaces present between mesophyll cells (palisade and spongy mesophyll cells) to the phloem, and secondly from mesophyll cells to the phloem. In this, plasmodesmata between mesophyll and bundle sheath cells could be the main pathway for NP transport from mesophyll cells to bundle sheath cells and then to the phloem (Danila et al. 2016).

#### 2.2.5. Role of nanoparticles in agriculture

Nanotechnology is a promising tool not only in industrial and medical scales but also in agriculture, because some nanomaterials are beneficial for crops that improve their growth, yield, nutritional status and antioxidant defences (Del Buono et al. 2021; Sturikova & Krystofova 2018). NPs have also made an impact on sustainable agriculture as agricultural products produced from nanoparticles are crucial for increasing growth and yield of crops. They also provide favourable alternatives for farmers as compared to conventional chemicals and techniques being extremely small size particles, simplicity of transport, easy handling, long-term storage, high efficiency and nontoxicity. Because of this, nano-based commercialization is gaining popularity worldwide (El-Said et al. 2014).

#### 2.2.6. Enhancing stress tolerance in plants

Nanotechnology has the ability to open novel approaches to cope with abiotic stresses that severely affect the development and growth of plants (Nair & Chung 2014). Nanoparticles are broadly used to protect the plants against abiotic stresses like salinity, drought, heavy metals, flooding and extreme temperatures in plants (Faizan et al. 2021). Application of nanoparticles improve the nutrient uptake, regulate hormone levels, and mitigate stress-induced damage to stimulate plant growth (Hayat et al. 2023).

Application of silver nanoparticles (Ag NPs) improves the wheat growth by enhancing antioxidant activity and reducing oxidative damage under drought stress (El-Saadony et al. 2022). Furthermore, the application of Ag NPs enhanced antioxidant enzyme activities, reduced ROS (reactive oxygen species) levels, and improved nutrient uptake to improve plant growth under salt stress (Al-Khayri et al. 2023). These nanoparticles also help to reduce the ionic imbalance produced by high levels of salt by controlling the intake and accumulation of ions within plant cells (Abasi et al. 2022).

ZnO nanoparticles can promote the activities of antioxidant enzymes such as catalase, superoxide dismutase, and peroxidase in plants to alleviate the damaging effects of reactive oxygen species produced under drought stress (Rehman et al. 2023). ZnO NPs can also improve efficiency of water used in plants through moderating stomatal conductance and transpiration rate to maintain the water balance under drought stress (Seleiman et al. 2023). The application of ZnO

stimulate plant growth under salt stress by promoting activities of antioxidant enzyme, reducing ROS levels, and alleviate lipid peroxidation due to higher amount of salt (Abdel Latef et al. 2017).

Application of TiO<sub>2</sub> NPs enable the plants to tolerate drought stress through different mechanisms like photosynthetic efficiency and antioxidant activation. TiO<sub>2</sub> NPs application increase the rate of photosynthesis by improving chlorophyll content that led to better plant growth and development under drought stress (Ramadan et al. 2022). TiO<sub>2</sub> NPs can improve the intake and usage of nutrients in plants growing under saline conditions that help to neutralize the mineral imbalances produced by high concentration of salt (Abdel Latef et al. 2018).

#### **2.3. Plant tissue culture**

Plant tissue culture plays an important part in various fields such as agriculture, horticulture, research, and conservation sectors (Bhatia 2015). It is directed towards the growth of plant cells or parts of plants on a nutrient medium under a controlled, sterile and simulated environment. It is an important technique used for embryogenesis, morphogenesis, nutrition, germplasm conservation, genetic manipulation, large-scale clonal propagation, production of pathogen-free plants and useful metabolites (Thorpe 2007). Plant tissue culture is involved in research and commercial seed production ultimately leading to better crop yields, effective management of diseases in addition to the protection of endangered plant species (Wang et al. 2016).

The success of *in vitro* plant culture depends on several factors such as genotype, the type of explants, surface disinfection methods, the culture medium, plant growth regulators, light intensity, photoperiod and temperature (Sivanesan & Park 2015). The composition of the nutrient media strongly effects the morphogenetic potential of the explants. This medium generally consists of macro and micronutrients, amino acids, organic compound, vitamins, carbon sources, hormones, and solidifying agents. The optimization of the mineral elements in the nutrient media improves cell proliferation, organogenesis, somatic embryogenesis, shoot quality and the bioactive compound content in cell and organ cultures (Hameg et al. 2020).

#### 2.3.1. Micropropagation

Micropropagation is a vital technique used for propagation of crops on large scale, medicinal and aromatic plants, trees, and economically important plants (Rout et al. 2000). This method involves aseptic culturing of explants i.e. apical or axillary meristems, or some other organ

of the plant grown on chemically defined culture media by keeping the cultures in suitable environmental conditions of temperature, light, and humidity (Xu & Huang 2014). The advantages of micropropagation are the high genetic and sterile quality of the explants for producing plants on large scale in a small space and short time (Kavand et al. 2011). This method involves the following four stages during organogenesis:

- The first stage includes culture initiation in which specific and actively growing part of plant (explants) are selected for culturing on a defined media.
- The second stage includes the response of explant cells to the stimulus of hormones (auxin and cytokinins) that starts the division and development of organs from explant (organogenesis).
- In the third stage, shoots developed from the multiplication stage are elongated and subsequently rooting starts either *in vitro* or *ex vitro*.
- The fourth stage is a crucial stage in the micropropagation because it provides the adaptation to plants growing *in vitro* (Rout et al. 2006).

## 2.3.2. Role of nanoparticles in plant tissue culture

Nanotechnology techniques applied to propagation methods play an essential role in ensuring sustainable agricultural practices and enhancing plant productivity (Alenezi et al. 2022). Application of nanoparticles led to the successful removal of microbe contaminants from explants and played a positive role in callus induction, organ development, somatic embryogenesis, soma clonal variation, genetic transformation and secondary metabolite production (Kim et al. 2017). In plant tissue culture, the use of nanoparticles improves seed germination, protection, yield and growth of plants (Wang et al. 2017).

Nanoparticles increase the strength and duration of tissue culture media and growth substrates by avoiding the degradation of phenolic compounds (Farrokhzad et al. 2022) and results in healthier and more productive explants (Khan et al. 2016). Nanoparticles are also significant role in controlling the enzymatic browning produced within the plant tissue culture medium (Permadi et al. 2023). Particular nanoparticles like gold and silver, exhibit antioxidant properties that are efficient for scavenging and responding ROS generated during the enzymatic browning process (Araujo et al. 2020). The reduced levels of ROS inhibit the oxidation of phenolic

compounds and slow down the browning process (Horison et al. 2022). In plant tissue culture, the application of silver NPs (AgNPs) is widely studied (Sarmast & Salehi 2016).

### 2.3.3. Role of nanoparticles in micropropagation

Nanoparticles affect biomass production, root growth and shoot growth, biochemical and physiological activities (Siddiqi & Husen 2010). There are a few studies about the effect of NPs on *in vitro* plant growth and production. However, there is a need to investigate the effects of nanoparticles on growth and regeneration of plants. Ag NPs exhibit high antimicrobial activity, high thermal stability and low volatility that could be used in the micropropagation of woody plants. Modifying the culture medium with Ag NPs during multiplication and rooting decreases the pathogen invasion, and also promote the development of the root system and accelerates the growth of the vegetative part of the shoots (Vasyukova et al. 2021).

Phytomediated ZnO NPs application to *in vitro Ochradenus arabicus* promoted shoot growth and resulted in high accumulation of biomass (Al-Qurainy et al. 2021). Application of ZnO NPs in MS media resulted in the emergence of few shoots and wgite thin roots covered by thick root hairs from stem explants of *Brassica nigra* (Zafar et al. 2016). The application ZnO NPs induce callus formation and shoot regeneration in rapeseed (Mousavi & Lahouti 2018). The shoot proliferation rate in date palm was also found to be higher from buds cultured with ZnO NPs on MS medium (Awad et al. 2020). ZnO NPs promoted the shoot and root lengths, and biomass in *Vigna radiata* (Mahajan et al. 2011). Application of ZnO nanoparticles to the Murashige and Skoog medium improves the shoot elongation of the *Phoenix dactylifera* (Awad et al. 2020).

#### 2.3.4. Antimicrobial properties of nanoparticles

Preventing microbial contamination in plant tissue cultures is important for successful micropropagation because epiphytic and endophytic organisms can cause damage to micropropagated plants at each growth stage by reducing multiplication, rooting rates and even death (Leifert & Casselles 2001). Another the most important limiting factors, especially in woody plants is *in vitro* fungal and bacterial contamination. The effective commercial micropropagation depends on various aspects like culture medium, plant growth regulators, explants age and donor plant (Sarmast et al. 2011). Several disinfecting agents are unable to remove contaminants in explants because they affect the organogenesis due to their phytotoxicity (Wang et al.2017). In many studies, surface sterilization of explants with metal and metal oxide nanoparticles decrease

the microbial contamination (Sarmast & Salehi 2016). The application of different nanoparticles has been suggested to reduce microbial contamination:

**Zinc oxide and Titanium dioxide** nanoparticles being antimicrobial agents act as a bactericidal and fungicidal drugs in biotechnology for sterilization of explants during clonal micropropagation of plants due to their photocatalytic activity, particle size, concentration, morphology, and surface modification. The primary mechanisms of their toxicity is generation of ROS that leads to oxidative damage (Zakharovaa & Gusev 2019).

**Silver nanoparticles** have good ability to remove fungal, bacterial and virus contamination without adversly effecting the plant growth and production (Castellano et al. 2007; Abdi et al. 2008). It exhibits broad-spectrum antimicrobial activity *in vitro* that binds to microbial DNA to prevent bacterial replication, and to the sulfhydryl groups of the metabolic enzymes in the bacterial electron transport chain to cause their inactivation (Slawson et al. 1990).

**Gold nanoparticle's** antimicrobial activity is inversely proportional to their size, the smaller the size of these nanoparticles, the higher will be antimicrobial activity against a various microbes such as *K. pneumonia, S. aureus, P. vulgaris, E. coli*, and *B. subtilis* (Thangamani & Bhuvaneshwari 2019).

#### 2.3.5. Nanoparticles in plant biotechnology

Advancements in nanotechnology offer a wide range of possibilities for novel applications of nanoparticles in the biotechnology and agricultural sector (Siddiqui et al. 2015). Nanobiotechnology is the outcome of combining the sciences of nanotechnology and biotechnology with specifics purposes (Madkour 2019). NPs extensively used in genetic engineering are magnetic NPs, carbon nanotubes, and DNA nanostructures (Zhao et al. 2017). Each type of NP delivers different genetic material, for example, carbon nanotubes can deliver RNA and DNA (Bates & Kostarelos 2013), while silicon NPs can deliver DNA and proteins, while polymeric NPs can transfer encapsulated RNA, DNA, and proteins into cells (Zhou et al. 2018). But metallic NPs can transfer only DNA as genetic material and these NPs carrying exogenous DNA were delivered to pollen. The plants pollinated through transformed pollen produce transformed seeds, which were further used in the cultivation of transgenic plants (Zhao et al. 2017).

Genome editing: Technology is being used in the growth of plants with better yields and high nutritional content alongwith higher resistance to herbs, insects and diseases. GE tools have certain restriction that includes high time consumption and complex protocols, tissue damage, incorporation of DNA in the host genome, and less efficient in transformation (Ahmar et al. 2021). To overcome these problems, nanotechnology is a modern technique for introducing transgenes into plants through particular delivery systems of gene. Nanoparticle mediated gene delivery is better than conventional methods because it improves the transformation efficiency for both temporal and permanent genetic modifications in different species (Grunewald et al. 2013; Vanhaeren et al. 2016).

**Genetically engineered plants**: Nanotechnology can also minimize uncertainty and assist to coordinate with the management approaches of agriculture using molecular production methods by serving as an alternative approach to conventional techniques. NPs are also used to facilitate GE through an effective and targeted transfer of plasmids, RNA, and ribonucleoproteins (Mout et al. 2017). These technologies have improved the accuracy of plant breeding in offering new opportunities for gene choice and alteration, also reduce the time to eliminate unwanted genes and enable the breeder to approach essential genes (Perez-de-Luque 2017).

**Disease resistant plants**: Genetic modification through nanoparticles mediated plant transformation has the ability to promote the disease resistance in plants (McKnight et al. 2003). The introduction of resistance genes in plant cells develop the resistant plants to reduce expenses on the agrochemicals used for disease control (Bouwmeester et al. 2009).

## **3.** Aims of the Thesis

The aim of this thesis is to evaluate the effect of Titanium dioxide  $(TiO_2)$  and Zinc oxide (ZnO) nanoparticles on micropropagation of *Salvia rosmarinus* by using nodal segments. Specific objectives is to find the effect of different concentrations of nanoparticles on different growth parameters of *Salvia rosmarinus* grown on MS media.

#### **3.1.** Hypothesis

Rosemary is commonly recognized for its antioxidant and antimicrobial characteristics, moreover, rosemary essential oils inhibit the enzymatic browning and microbial growth in culture media. NPs has positive effect on callus induction, somatic embryogenesis, cell suspension culture, and plant sterilization in micropropagation. Therefore, nanoparticles application improves the growth, nutritional status, antioxidant defences and production of secondary metabolite in plants by controlling the microbial growth.

## 4. Methods

#### 4.1. Plant material

The plant material selected for this study was *Salvia rosmarinus* belonging to Lamiaceae family that was taken from the plant tissue collection maintained in *in vitro* conditions at the Laboratory of Plant Tissue Cultures (Faculty of Tropical AgriScience), CULS Prague. The plant material was multiplied through micropropagation before the nanoparticles application. This plant was chosen for its antioxidant, anti-inflammatory and antimicrobial properties, and the ability to reduce neurodegenerative disease (Perry et al. 2000). Moreover, it can serve as a natural pesticide that helps in phytoremediation process (Bozin et al. 2007).

## 4.2. Micropropagation methodology

#### 4.2.1. Growth medium preparation

For *in vitro* micropropagation of the plants, a basic MS medium (Murashige & Skoog 1962) was used, and the composition of the medium is presented in Table 1. To prepare 1 litre of the MS medium, 100 ml of solution A and 10 ml of each solutions B, C, D, E and V was measured with a graduated cylinder, mixed them in a beaker and then 300 ml of distilled water (H<sub>2</sub>O) was added. After this, 100 g of Myo-inositol and 30 g of sucrose were weighed on a weighing balance and added into the solution during stirring. The pH value of the solution was measured and adjusted to 5.7 by using potassium hydroxide (KOH). Subsequently 8 g of agar was weighed and added to a beaker filled with 500 ml of distilled H<sub>2</sub>O and stirred. Both solutions were heated in a microwave, mixed together and filled with warm distilled water to the final volume of 1 litre. The warm medium was divided in 40 conical flasks and these conical flasks were closed with aluminium foil for autoclaving.

Murashige – Skoog Medium				
	Storage solutions	Weight used	Volume used (pH 5.7)	
А	NH <sub>4</sub> NO <sub>3</sub>	165 g	100 ml	
	KNO <sub>3</sub>	19 g		
	CaCl <sub>2</sub>	3.3 g		
	MgSO <sub>4</sub> . 7H <sub>2</sub> O	3.7 g		
	KH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub>	1.7 g		
В	H <sub>3</sub> BO <sub>3</sub>	620 mg	10 ml	
	$MnSO_{4.} 4H_2O (H_2O)$	2.23 g (1.69 g)		
	ZnSO <sub>4</sub> . 4H <sub>2</sub> O (7H <sub>2</sub> O)	860 mg (1.06 g)		
С	KI	83 mg	10 ml	
	$Na_2MoO_4$ . $4H_2O$	25 mg		
D	CuSO <sub>4</sub> . 5H <sub>2</sub> O	2.5 mg	10 ml	
	CoCl <sub>2</sub> . 6H <sub>2</sub> O	2.5 mg		
Е	Na <sub>2</sub> EDTA	3.72 g	10 ml	
	FeSO <sub>4</sub> . 7H <sub>2</sub> O	2.78 g		
V	Nicotinic acid	50 mg	10 ml	
	Pyridoxine (B6)	50 mg		
	Thiamine (B1)	10 mg		
	Glycine (amino acid)	200 mg		

**Table 1.** Composition of MS medium (Murashige & Skoog 1962).

Direct weight for 1 liter of MS medium:

- *Myo*-inositol 100 mg
- Sucrose 30 g
- Agar 8 g

#### 4.2.2 Medium sterilization

A physical destruction of microorganisms was done by using an autoclave immediately after the preparation of the medium to ensure that MS medium was not contaminated. The MS medium was autoclaved at the temperature (121°C) and the pressure (105 kPa) for about 20 minutes.

#### 4.2.3. Preparation of aseptic condition

The necessary tools used for micropropagation were sterilized. For this, petri dishes, tweezers, scalpels and pasteur pipettes were wrapped in aluminium foil for sterilization at 160 °C in a dry heat sterilizer for 3 hours. The flowbox used for the micropropagation was cleaned using 70% ethanol while the medium and tools wrapped in foil were placed inside, thereafter they were sterilized with 70% ethanol. Then the UV lamp and fan were switched on for minimum 30 minutes. To maintain aseptic conditions, both hands were sprayed with 70% ethanol whereas the tweezers and scalpel were placed in a flask containing 70% ethanol that were regularly flamed during micropropagation. Earlier to nanoparticle application the manual propipetter was placed in 70% ethanol bath for about 24 hours.

#### 4.2.4. Micropropagation and application of nanoparticles

For the experiment, only nodal segments were used for micropropagation. Nodes with the length of about 1 cm were divided in the flowbox and were grown in basic MS medium. 40 nodal segments were prepared for each treatment and control group. The explants were allowed to grow for 5 days. The growth conditions were 16/8 (day/night cycle) at 25/23 °C temperature with 2500 lx of light intensity. After this, for healthy growth of explants Zinc oxide and titanium dioxide solution in different concentrations was added to MS media using pasteur pipettes. While no solution was applied into the control group after the initial micropropagation.

The medium for nanoparticles was made in the similar way as basic MS medium described in table 1, but it was not heated, and agar was not added into it. After that, the medium was divided into different beakers. Zinc oxide and titanium dioxide were weighed and added into separate medium solutions to achieve the desirable concentrations of 20 mg/l, 40 mg/l and 60 mg/l, as described in table 2. The beakers were sealed with Parafilm M(R) and aluminium foil and then sterilized in the autoclave for 20 minutes.

Treatments	Nanoparticles (mg/l)		Medium	рН
	ZnO	TiO <sub>2</sub>		
Control	-	-	MS	5.7
Z1	20	-	MS	5.7
Z2	40	-	MS	5.7
Z3	60	-	MS	5.7
T1	-	20	MS	5.7
T2	-	40	MS	5.7
Т3	-	60	MS	5.7

**Table 2.** List of concentration of treatments used in the experiment

## **4.3.** Data calculation

Plant growth was observed over a period of 60 days. Data was collected after every 10 days. Regeneration percentage, number of sprouts, length of sprouts, number of nodes, number of roots, and length of root all were traced and measured. Measurements were taken through the tube walls using a paper ruler.

## 4.4. Statistical analysis

The statistical analysis for the comparison of different concentrations of ZnO and  $TiO_2$  nanoparticles (20mg/l, 40mg/l and 60mg/l) was performed by using Student's T-test for each sample. The differences were considered to be statistically significant at (p<0.05).

## 5. Results

## 5.1. Plant regeneration (%)

The maximum percentage of plant regeneration from explants were seen in plants grown on basic MS medium (control group) as compared to application of ZnO and TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles solution to explants. Application of ZnO nanoparticles in different concentration (20mg/l, 40mg/l and 60mg/l) showed highest regeneration percentage rate in Z1 treatment with 20mg/l of ZnO nanoparticle solution while the lowest regeneration rate was in Z2 treatment with 40mg/l application of ZnO nanoparticle solution to explants. Application to explants. Application of different concentration (20mg/l, 40mg/l application of ZnO nanoparticle solution to explants. Application of different concentration (20mg/l, 40mg/l and 60mg/l) of TiO<sub>2</sub> application showed best regeneration percentage in T2 treatment with 40mg/l and the less regeneration percentage in T1 treatment with 20mg/l application of TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles solution to explants. ZnO nanoparticle application showed the better percentage rate among all plants as compared to TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles.

The statistical effect of nanoparticles on regeneration percentage was evaluated by student's t-test and the statistically significant differences (p<0.05) were found in Z2 (40mg/l), Z3 (60mg/l), T1 (20mg/l), T2 (40mg/l) and T3 (60mg/l) treatments (Figure 2A).

## 5.2. Number of sprouts per plants

For number of sprouts, TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles application showed best result as compared to plants grown on MS medium and treated with ZnO nanoparticles solution. Application of different concentration (20mg/l, 40mg/l and 60mg/l) of ZnO nanoparticles showed highest number of sprouts in Z3 treated plants with 60mg/l, and almost similar number of sprouts were calculated in Z1 and Z2 treated plants with 20mg/l and 40mg/l application of ZnO nanoparticles solution. Moreover, TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles application in different concentration (20mg/l, 40mg/l and 60mg/l) showed highest number of sprouts in T1 treated plants and lowest in T3 treated plants with 20mg/l and 60mg/l of TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles solution respectively. Overall, there was a reduction in number of sprouts by the application of ZnO nanoparticles.

The effect of nanoparticles on number of sprouts was evaluated by student's t-test and the statistically significant differences (p<0.05) were found in Z1-20mg/l, Z2-40mg/l and Z3-60mg/l, and T1-20mg/l and T3-60mg/l treatments (Figure 2B).

## 5.3. Length of sprouts (mm)

Application of ZnO nanoparticles showed the highest sprout length in plants as compared to those grown on MS medium and treated with TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles. Overall, the plants grown on MS medium i.e. control group showed a reduction in sprout length. The different treatments of ZnO nanoparticles solution i.e. Z1-20mg/l, Z2-40mg/l and Z3-60mg/l exhibited longest sprout length in Z1-20mg/l and shortest in Z3-60mg/l treatments of ZnO nanoparticles. In case of TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles application, their different treatments i.e. T 1-20mg/l, T2-40mg/l and T3-60mg/l exhibited longest sprout length in T1-20mg/l treatment while T2-40mg/l and T3-60mg/l treatments showed the similar sprout length in treated plants. Overall, ZnO nanoparticles application showed better sprout length in all treated plants.

The effect of nanoparticles on number of sprouts was evaluated by student's T-test and the statistically significant differences (p<0.05) were found in Z1 (20mg/l), Z2 (40mg/l), Z3 (60mg/l), and T2 (40mg/l) and T3 (60mg/l) treatments (Figure 2C).

## 5.4. Number of nodes per sprouts

Application of ZnO nanoparticles showed the maximum number of nodes as compared to plants grown on MS medium and treated with TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles. The number of nodes were similar in plants grown on MS medium (control group) and Z1 treatment with the 20mg/l application of ZnO nanoparticles solution. Different treatments (Z1-20mg/l, Z2-40mg/l and Z3-60mg/l) of ZnO nanoparticles revealed highest number of nodes in Z3 treatment with 60mg/l and lowest in Z1 treatment with application of 20mg/l ZnO nanoparticles solution to plants respectively. Moreover, different treatments (T1-20mg/l, T2-40mg/l and T3-60mg/l) of TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles to plants showed greatest number of nodes in T1-20mg/l treatment but smallest in T2-40mg/l and T3-60mg/l and T3-60mg/l treatments respectively. Overall, ZnO nanoparticles application showed best results for number of nodes among all treated plants.

The effect of nanoparticles on number of nodes determined by student's t-test was statistically significantly different (p<0.05) in control group, and T1-20mg/l, T2-40mg/l and T3-60mg/l treatments (Figure 2D).

## 5.5. Number of roots per plants

The greatest number of roots were obtained in plants grown on basic MS medium i.e. control group as compared to plants treated with ZnO and TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles. In application of

ZnO nanoparticle, their different treatments (Z1-20mg/l, Z2-40mg/l and Z3-60mg/l) showed highest number of roots in Z1-20mg/l and the smallest in Z2-40mg/l treated plants. On the other hand, different treatments (T1-20mg/l, T2-40mg/l and T3-60mg/l) of TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticle showed highest number of roots in T2-40mg/l and lowest in T3-60mg/l treated plants. Overall, plants treated with TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles showed better results as compared to ZnO nanoparticle.

The effect of nanoparticles on number of roots was evaluated by student's t-test and the statistically significant differences (p<0.05) were found in control group and all treatments (Z1-20mg/l, Z2-40mg/l, Z3-60mg/l, T1-20mg/l, T2-40mg/l and T3-60mg/l) (Figure 2E).

#### 5.6. Length of roots (mm)

The highest length of roots was detected in plants grown on basic MS medium as compared to plants treated with different concentration of ZnO and TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles solution. Application of ZnO in different concentration i.e. 20mg/l, 40mg/l and 60mg/l showed highest root length in Z3 treated plants with 60mg/l and lowest in Z2 treated plants with 40mg/l application of ZnO nanoparticles solution. Furthermore, different concentration i.e. 20mg/l, 40mg/l, 40mg/l, 40mg/l, 40mg/l and 60mg/l of TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles showed almost similar root length in T1 (20mg/l) and T2 (40mg/l) treated plants while it was decreased in T3 (60mg/l) treated plants. Among all treated plants, ZnO application showed greater length of roots as compared to TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles.

The effect of nanoparticles on length of roots was evaluated by student's t-test and the statistically significant differences (p<0.05) were evaluated in control group and T1-20mg/l, T2-40mg/l and T3-60mg/l treatments (Figure 2F).



**Figure 2**. Effect of different concentrations of ZnO and  $TiO_2$  nanoparticles on (A) regeneration %, (B) mean number of sprouts, (C) mean length of sprouts, (D) mean number of nodes, (E) mean number of roots and (F) mean length of roots of *Salvia rosmarinus*.



**Figure 3.** Phenotypic results with ZnO nanoparticles (A) 0mg/l, (B) 20mg/l, (C) 40mg/l and (D) 60mg/l concentrations.



**Figure 4.** Phenotypic results with TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles (A) 0mg/l, (B) 20mg/l, (C) 40mg/l and (D) 60mg/l concentrations.

## 6. Discussion

Salvia rosmarinus has economic, social and environmental benefits due to the antimicrobial effects of its chemical components. Micropropagation of rosemary is a source of providing secondary metabolites to enhance the availability and uptake of nutrients in agroforestry systems (Aman & Afrasiab 2014). Nanotechnology is environmentally friendly technique because it uses plants, bacteria and various bio-resources for the synthesis of nanoparticles (Lateef et al. 2016; Khan et al. 2019) and also possess the potential in forestry to improve the quality of plants (Wagay et al. 2023). Application of nanoparticles in the agriculture field is a novel techniques to promote productivity of crop under normal as well as harsh environmental situations (Zulfiqar & Ashraf 2021). Moreover, NPs also control the fungal and bacterial growth to improve the crop production and minimize the crop losses (Rizwana et al. 2022).

The addition of ZnO NPs to tissue culture media can positively influence callus development, rooting, and somatic embryogenesis in various plants (Shafique et al. 2020; Al-Mayahi 2021). Previous studies showed that the application of 10 mg/L of ZnO NPs in the culture media showed higher growth parameters in *Salvia officinalis* (Alenezi et al. 2022). Alizadeh & Dumanoglu (2022) stated that the application of IBA-nZnO showed highest root length in *in vitro* rooting of apple microcuttings with a healthy root system. In our results, application of 60 mg/l of ZnO showed highest root length in rosemary as compared to 20 mg/l and 40 mg/l. ZnO nanoparticles could enter the cell walls and increase the levels of auxin that help to promote cell division (in the presence of cytokinins), cell elongation and mineral absorption (Hanif et al. 2024).

The effectiveness of ZnO NPs for the plants regeneration in *in vitro* cultures reveal their specific properties as an indicator of plant growth and the individual response of plant species (Gharpure & Ankamwar 2020). Excessive amounts of zinc oxide nanoparticles can negatively affect the plants. In previous studies, Thunugunta et al. (2018) investigated that ZnO nanoparticles application inhibited the regeneration capacity of eggplant seeds in the Murashige-Skoog medium with their increasing concentration from 5 to 20 mg/L than control. In our study, regeneration of *Salvia rosmarinus* was also inhibited by increasing the concentration of ZnO from 20 mg/L to 60 mg/L than control. This is due to destructive effect of ZnO nanoparticles on homeostasis, hormonal signalling, transport of heavy metals, and photosynthesis with a reduction in the chlorophyll and carotenoids content (Adhikari et al. 2020).

The behaviour of plants towards the nanoparticles depends on the plant, and the kind and concentration of nanoparticles (Bayat et al. 2022). Previous studies showed that  $TiO_2$  at a concentration of 10 mg/l enhanced the regeneration of wheat seeds to significantly improve the plant growth (Feizi et al. 2012). Chutipaijit & Sutjaritvorakul (2018) stated that *in vitro* micropropagation of rice in the culture media provided with 20 mg/l TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles showed the greatest regeneration rate and 40 mg/l of TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles were the best media for callus induction and regeneration of plant. In our study, application of 40 mg/l of TiO<sub>2</sub> showed highest regeneration percentage from nodal segment. The changing behaviour of regeneration rate is associated with the photocatalytic activity of nanoparticles that vary in size and shape (Ma et al. 2012).

Titanium dioxide nanoparticles affect cell division, cell size, callus induction and hormone rates (Gibberellins and cytokinin) to significantly increase the growth of Rosmarinus *officinalis* plants (Golami et al. 2018). In previous studies, Waani et al. (2021) described that application of  $TiO_2$  nanoparticles at concentrations of 5 mg/l to 150 mg/l significantly promoted the root length of rice seedlings. In our results, the highest and almost similar root length was observed by the application of 20 mg/l and 40 mg/l of  $TiO_2$  nanoparticles. These positive results are related to the improved uptake of the water and nutrient due to nanoparticles application (Dehkourdi & Mosavi 2013).

ZnO nanoparticles act as natural regulator in plants by modulating important physiological parameters, thereby, improves plant growth and development (Faizan et al. 2021). Previously, Hanif et al. (2024) described that foliar spray of optimum concentration of ZnO nanoparticles (50 mgl<sup>-1</sup>) increased the No. of nodes in tomato and their number was gradually increased as the concentration of nanoparticle increases until 100 mgl<sup>-1</sup>. In our results, the application of 60 mgl<sup>-1</sup> ZnO nanoparticles showed highest number of nodes in *Salvia rosmarinus*. This is because the optimum concentration of ZnO nanoparticles improved the levels of plant secondary metabolites and osmolytes to enhanced plant growth parameter (Hanif et al. 2024).

TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles increased CO<sub>2</sub> fixation by enhancing the rubisco activity to improve the growth (Qi et al. 2013). Previous study by Singh & Verma (2022) reported that TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles application improved the sprout growth in canola. In our results, application of 20 mgl<sup>-1</sup> of TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles showed highest sprout length but it was decreased at 40 mgl<sup>-1</sup> and 60 mgl<sup>-1</sup>. The

higher amounts of  $TiO_2$  nanoparticles also affect growth of *Oryza sativa* because  $TiO_2$  nanoparticles harm the cell wall and cell membrane of plants (Mirzajani et al. 2013).

NPs always showed positive results on different morphological parameters of plants by increasing the proline synthesis and the activity of different enzymes (Helaly et al. 2014; Khalid et al. 2022). In previous studies, Prasad et al. (2012) described that the application of 1000 mg/ lof ZnO nanoparticles increased sprout growth in peanut (average size ~25 nm). In our study, application of 20 mg/l of ZnO nanoparticles showed highest sprout length as compared to 40 mgl<sup>-1</sup> and 60 mgl<sup>-1</sup>. The small size of ZnO nanoparticles allows it to enter into the plant cells to promote the seed growth (Das et al. 2014).

## 7. Conclusions

In present study, effect of different concentration of Zinc Oxide and Titanium Dioxide nanoparticles on in vitro micropropagation of Salvia rosmarinus was evaluated and compared. The application of nanoparticles improved the antioxidant properties, photosynthetic efficiency and proline accumulation to provide stability to plants. For micropropagation of Salvia rosmarinus, a nodal segment was grown on basic MS media (control group) and by following the different treatment of Zinc oxide (Z1-20mg/l, Z2-40mg/l and Z3-60mg/l) and Titanium dioxide (T1-20mg/l, T2-40mg/l and T3-60mg/l) for 60 days. The growth conditions were day and night cycle (16/8) by keeping a temperature day and night (25/23 °C) with a light intensity (2500 lx). Readings were taken after every 10 days. The results showed highest regeneration percentage in Z1-20mg/l, number of sprouts in Z3-60mg/l, sprout length Z1-20mg/l, number of nodes in Z3-60mg/l, number of roots in Z1-20mg/l and root length in Z3-60mg/l treated plants. In case of Titanium dioxide application, highest regeneration percentage was found in T2-40mg/l, number of sprouts in T1-20mg/l, sprout length T1-20mg/l, number of nodes in T1-20mg/l, number of roots in T2-40mg/l and root length in T1-20mg/l and T2-40mg/l treated plants. Moreover, increasing concentration of nanoparticles decrease the growth of Salvia rosmarinus as regeneration percentage, number and length of sprout, number of roots and nodes, and length of nodes were decreased in Z2-40mg/l treatment. Similarly, regeneration percentage was decreased in T1-20mg/l, number and length of sprout, number of roots and nodes, and length of nodes were decreased in T3-60mg/l treatment. The negative effects of nanoparticles inhibit the chlorophyll content, photosynthetic effectiveness and suppresses the plant growth. Nanotechnology is considered a green method due to elimination and control of environmental pollutants to obtain sustainable growth. Hence, ZnO and TiO<sub>2</sub> could act as bactericidal and fungicidal drugs to sterilize the explants during clonal micropropagation of plants on growth media.

## 8. References

Abada E, Mashraqi A, Modafer Y, Al Abboud MA, El-Shabasy A. 2024. Review green synthesis of silver nanoparticles by using plant extracts and their antimicrobial activity. Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences 31 (103877) DOI: 10.1016/j.sjbs.2023.103877.

Abasi F, Raja NI, Mashwani ZUR, Amjad MS, Ehsan M, Mustafa N, Haroon M, Proćków J. 2022. Biogenic Silver Nanoparticles as a Stress Alleviator in Plants: A Mechanistic Overview. Molecules 27 (3378) DOI: 10.3390/molecules27113378.

Abdal Dayem A, Hossain M, Lee S, Kim K, Saha S, Yang GM, Choi H, Cho SG. 2017. The Role of Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS) in the Biological Activities of Metallic Nanoparticles. International Journal of Molecular Sciences 18 (120) DOI: 10.3390/ijms18010120.

Abdel Latef AAH, Abu Alhmad MF, Abdelfattah KE. 2017. The Possible Roles of Priming with ZnO Nanoparticles in Mitigation of Salinity Stress in Lupine (*Lupinus termis*) Plants. Journal of Plant Growth Regulator **36**:60–70.

Abdel Latef AAH, Srivastava AK, El-sadek MSA, Kordrostami M, Tran LSP. 2018. Titanium Dioxide Nanoparticles Improve Growth and Enhance Tolerance of Broad Bean Plants under Saline Soil Conditions. Land Degradation & Development **29**:1065-1073.

Abdi G, Salehi H, Khosh Khui M. 2008. Nano silver: a novel nanomaterial for removal of bacterial contaminants in valerian (*Valeriana officinalis* L.) tissue culture. Acta Physiol Plant **30**:709–714.

Adafre AN. 2019. Estimation of yield advantage and competitiveness of onion rosemary intercropping over sole cropping at Wondo Genet, Southern Ethiopia. Academic Journal of Plant Sciences **12(3):**52-60.

Adhikari S, Adhikari A, Ghosh S, Roy D, Azahar I, Basuli D, Hossain Z. 2020. Assessment of ZnO-NPs toxicity in maize: An integrative microRNAomic approach. Chemosphere 249 (126197) DOI: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.126197.

Adhikary S, Biswas B, Chakraborty D, Timsina J, Pal S, Chandra Tarafdar J, Banerjee S, Hossain A, Roy S. 2022. Seed priming with selenium and zinc nanoparticles modifies germination, growth, and yield of direct-seeded rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). Scientific Reports 12 (7103) DOI: 10.1038/s41598-022-11307-4.

Aghakhani F, Kharazian N, Lori Gooini Z. 2018. Flavonoid Constituents of Phlomis (*Lamiaceae*) Species Using Liquid Chromatography Mass Spectrometry. Phytochemical Analysis **29**:180-195.

Ahmar S, Mahmood T, Fiaz S, Mora-Poblete F, Shafique MS, Chattha MS, Jung K-H. 2021. Advantage of Nanotechnology-Based Genome Editing System and Its Application in Crop Improvement. Frontiers in Plant Science 12 (663849) DOI: 10.3389/fpls.2021.663849.

Alabdallah NM, Alzahrani HS. 2020. The potential mitigation effect of ZnO nanoparticles on [*Abelmoschus esculentus* L. *Moench*] metabolism under salt stress conditions. Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences **27**:3132-3137.

Alenezi NA et al. 2022. Zinc Oxide Nanoparticles (ZnO NPs), Biosynthesis, Characterization and Evaluation of Their Impact to Improve Shoot Growth and to Reduce Salt Toxicity on *Salvia officinalis* In Vitro Cultivated. Processes 10 (1273) DOI: 10.3390/pr10071273.

Alharby HF, Metwali EM, Fuller MP, Aldhebiani AY. 2016. Impact of application of zinc oxide nanoparticles on callus induction, plant regeneration, element content and antioxidant enzyme activity in tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum* Mill) under salt stress. Archives of Biological Sciences **68**:723–735.

Ali HI, Dey M, Alzubaidi AK, Alneamah SJA, Altemimi AB, Pratap-Singh A. 2021. Effect of Rosemary (*Rosmarinus officinalis* L.) Supplementation on Probiotic Yoghurt: Physicochemical Properties, Microbial Content, and Sensory Attributes. Foods 10 (2393) DOI: 10.3390/foods10102393.

Alizadeh S, Dumanoğlu H. 2022. The effects of zinc oxide nanoparticles loaded with IAA and IBA on in vitro rooting ofapple microcuttings. Turkish Journal of Agriculture and Forestry **46**:306-317.

Al-Khayri JM, Rashmi R, Surya Ulhas R, Sudheer WN, Banadka A, Nagella P, Aldaej MI, Rezk AA-S, Shehata WF, Almaghasla MI. 2023. The Role of Nanoparticles in Response of Plants to Abiotic Stress at Physiological, Biochemical, and Molecular Levels. Plants 12 (292) DOI: 10.3390/plants12020292.

Al-Mayahi AMW. 2021. The effect of humic acid (HA) and zinc oxide nanoparticles (ZnO-NPS) on in vitro regeneration of date palm (*Phoenix dactylifera* L.) cv. Quntar. Plant Cell Tiss Organ Cult **145**: 445–456.

Al-Qurainay F et al. 2021. Impact of Phytomediated Zinc Oxide Nanoparticles on Growth and Oxidative Stress Response of *in Vitro* Raised Shoots of *Ochradenus arabicus*. BioMed Research International **2021**:1-13.

Aman N, H. Afrasiab, 2014. Primary and secondary somatic embryogenesis from leaf explants of Rosemary (*Rosmarinus officinalis* L.) *Lamiacea*. Pakistan Journal of Botany **46(3)**:903-909.

Apostolides NA, El Beyrouthy M, Dhifi W, Najm S, Cazier F, Najem W, Labaki M, AbouKaïs A. 2013. Chemical Composition of Aerial Parts of *Rosmarinus officinalis* L. Essential Oil Growing Wild in Lebanon. Journal of Essential Oil Bearing Plants **16**:274-282.

Aragay G, Pino F, Merkoçi A. 2012. Nanomaterials for Sensing and Destroying Pesticides. Chemical Reviews **112**:5317-5338.

Araujo TF, Pereira TM, Araujo Neto LA. 2020. Enzymatic Browning Modulates Properties of Silver Nanoparticles Produced with Banana Peel Extract. J Inorg Organomet Polym **30**: 3702–3708.

Arikat NA, Jawad FM, Karam NS, Shibli RA. 2004. Micropropagation and accumulation of essential oils in wild sage (*Salvia fruticosa* Mill.). Scientia Horticulturae **100**:193-202.

Avellan A, Yun J, Zhang Y, Spielman-Sun E, Unrine JM, Thieme J, Li J, Lombi E, Bland G, Lowry GV. 2019. Nanoparticle Size and Coating Chemistry Control Foliar Uptake Pathways, Translocation, and Leaf-to-Rhizosphere Transport in Wheat. ACS Nano **13**:5291-5305.

Awad K. 2020. In vitro Assessment of ZnO Nanoparticles on *Phoenix dactylifera* L. Micropropagation. Basic and Applied Sciences - Scientific Journal of King Faisal University DOI: 10.37575/b/agr/2000.

Bai N, He K, Roller M, Lai CS, Shao X, Pan MH, Ho CT. 2010. Flavonoids and Phenolic Compounds from *Rosmarinus officinalis*. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry **58**:5363-5367.

Banjaw DT, Megersa HG, Abewoy D, Lema DT. 2024, Rosemary Recent Classification, Plant Characteristics, Economic Parts, Marketing, Uses, Chemical Composition, and Cultivation. International Journal of Scientific Research and Engineering Development **7** (1):157-166.

Bates K, Kostarelos K. 2013. Carbon nanotubes as vectors for gene therapy: Past achievements, present challenges and future goals. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews **65**:2023-2033.

Batista MC, Fonseca MCM, Teodoro AV, Martins EF, Pallini A, Venzon M. 2017. Basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) attracts and benefits the green lacewing Ceraeochrysa cubana Hagen. Biological Control **110**:98-106.

Bayat M, Zargar M, Murtazova KMS, Nakhaev MR, Shkurkin SI. 2022. Ameliorating Seed Germination and Seedling Growth of Nano-Primed Wheat and Flax Seeds Using Seven Biogenic Metal-Based Nanoparticles. Agronomy 12 (811) DOI: 10.55730/1300-011X.3004.

Begum A, Sandhya S, Ali SS, Vinod KR, Reddy S, Banji D. 2013. An in-depth review on the medicinal flora *Rosmarinus officinalis* (Lamiaceae). Acta scientiarum polonorum Technologia alimentaria **12(1):**61-73.

Ben Issa R, Gautier H, Gomez L. 2017. Influence of neighbouring companion plants on the performance of aphid populations on sweet pepper plants under greenhouse conditions. Agricultural and Forest Entomology **19**:181-191.

Berdahl DR, Mckeague J. 2015. Rosemary and sage extracts as antioxidants for food preservation. Pages 177-217 in Shahidi F, Editor. Woodhead Publishing Series in Food Science, Technology and Nutrition, Handbook of Antioxidants for Food Preservation (1st edition). Woodhead Publishing, Cambridge.

Bhatia S. 2015. Classical and nonclassical techniques for secondary metabolite production in plant cell culture. Pages 31-107 in Bera T, Dahiya R, Bera T, Bhatia S, Bera T, editors. Modern applications of plant biotechnology in pharmaceutical sciences. Elsevier.

Bian SW, Mudunkotuwa IA, Rupasinghe T, Grassian VH. 2011. Aggregation and Dissolution of 4 nm ZnO Nanoparticles in Aqueous Environments: Influence of pH, Ionic Strength, Size, and Adsorption of Humic Acid. Langmuir **27**:6059-6068.

Borrás-Linares I, Stojanović Z, Quirantes-Piné R, Arráez-Román D, Švarc-Gajić J, Fernández-Gutiérrez A, Segura-Carretero A. 2014. *Rosmarinus Officinalis* Leaves as a Natural Source of Bioactive Compounds. International Journal of Molecular Sciences **15**:20585-20606.

Bouwmeester H, Dekkers S, Noordam MY, Hagens WI, Bulder AS, de Heer C, ten Voorde SECG, Wijnhoven SWP, Marvin HJP, Sips AJAM. 2009. Review of health safety aspects of nanotechnologies in food production. Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology **53**:52-62.

Bozin B, Mimica-Dukic N, Samojlik I, Jovin E. 2007. Antimicrobial and Antioxidant Properties of

Rosemary and Sage (*Rosmarinus officinalis* L. and *Salvia officinalis* L., *Lamiaceae*) Essential Oils. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry **55**:7879-7885.

Brindisi M, Bouzidi C, Frattaruolo L, Loizzo MR, Tundis R, Dugay A, Deguin B, Cappello AR, Cappello MS. 2020. Chemical Profile, Antioxidant, Anti-Inflammatory, and Anti-Cancer Effects of Italian *Salvia rosmarinus* Spenn. Methanol Leaves Extracts. Antioxidants 9 (826) DOI: 10.3390/antiox9090826.

Castellano JJ, Shafii SM, Ko F, Donate G, Wright TE, Mannari RJ, Payne WG, Smith DJ, Robson MC. 2007. Comparative evaluation of silver-containing antimicrobial dressings and drugs. International Wound Journal **4**:114-122.

Chen X, Mao SS. 2007. Titanium Dioxide Nanomaterials: Synthesis, Properties, Modifications, and Applications. Chemical Reviews **107**:2891-2959.

Chutipaijit S, Sutjaritvorakul T. 2018. Titanium dioxide (TiO<sub>2</sub>) nanoparticles induced callus induction and plant regeneration of indica rice cultivars (suphanburi1 and suphanburi90). Digest Journal of Nanomaterials and Biostructures **13(4)**: 1003–1010.

Ciani M, Menghini L, Mariani F, Pagiotti R, Menghini A, Fatichenti F. 2000. Antimicrobial properties of essential oil of *Satureja montana* L. on pathogenic and spoilage yeasts. Biotechnology Letters **22**: 1007–1010.

Colica C, Di Renzo L, Aiello V, De Lorenzo A, Abenavoli L. 2018. Rosmarinic Acid as a Potential Anti-Inflammatory Agent. Reviews on Recent Clinical Trials **13**:240-242.

Danila FR, Quick WP, White RG, Furbank RT, Von Caemmerer S. 2016. The metabolite pathway between bundle sheath and mesophyll: quantification of plasmodesmata in leaves of C3 and C4 monocots. Plant Cell **28**:1461–1471.

Das K, Roychoudhury A. 2014. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) and response of antioxidants as ROS-scavengers during environmental stress in plants. Frontiers in Environmental Science 2(53) DOI: 10.3389/fenvs.2014.00053.

De Macedo LM, Santos EMD, Militao L, Tundisi LL, Ataide JA, Souto EB, Mazzola, PG. 2020. Rosemary (*Rosmarinus officinalis* L., syn *Salvia rosmarinus* Spenn.) and its topical applications: A review. Plants 9(5), (651) DOI: 10.3390/plants9050651. Dehkourdi EH, Mosavi M. 2013. Effect of Anatase Nanoparticles (TiO<sub>2</sub>) on Parsley Seed Germination (*Petroselinum crispum*) In Vitro. Biol Trace Elem Res **155**:283–286.

Del Buono D, Di Michele A, Costantino F, Trevisan M, Lucini L. 2021. Biogenic ZnO Nanoparticles Synthesized Using a Novel Plant Extract: Application to Enhance Physiological and Biochemical Traits in Maize. Nanomaterials 11 (1270) DOI: 10.3390/nano11051270.

Dimkpa CO, Bindraban PS. 2018. Nanofertilizers: New Products for the Industry? Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry **66**:6462-6473.

Dreaden EC, Alkilany AM, Huang X, Murphy CJ, El-Sayed MA. 2012. The golden age: gold nanoparticles for biomedicine. Chem. Soc. Rev **41**:2740-2779.

Drew BT, González-Gallegos JG, Xiang CL, Kriebel R, Drummond CP, Walked JB, Sytsma KJ. 2017. Salvia united: The greatest good for the greatest number. Taxon **66**:133-145.

Duran ZVH, Rodriguez PCR, Raya AM, Francia Martinez JR, Panadero LA, Rodriguez BC. 2008. Environmental and Agronomic Benefits of Aromatic and Medicinal Plant Strips for Rainfed Almond Orchards in Semiarid Slopes (SE, Spain). The Open Agriculture Journal **2**:15-21.

Dwivedi S, Saquib Q, Al Khedhairy AA, Musarrat J. 2016. Understanding the Role of Nanomaterials in Agriculture. Pages 271-288 in Singh D, Singh H, Prabha R, editors. Microbial Inoculants in Sustainable Agricultural Productivity. Springer, New Delhi.

Eichert T, Goldbach HE. 2008. Equivalent pore radii of hydrophilic foliar uptake routes in stomatous and astomatous leaf surfaces-further evidence for a stomatal pathway. Physiological Plantarum **132**:491–502.

El Rajoob AO, Massadeh AM, Omari MN. 2008. Evaluation of Pb, Cu, Zn, Cd, Ni and Fe Levels in *Rosmarinus officinalis* (Rosemary) Medicinal Plant and Soils in Selected Zones in Jordan. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment **140**:61-68.

El Saadony MT. 2022. Role of nanoparticles in enhancing crop tolerance to abiotic stress: a comprehensive review. Frontiers in Plant Science13 (946717) DOI: 10.3389/fpls.2022.946717.

El Said KS, Ali EM, Kanehira K, Taniguchi A. 2014. Molecular mechanism of DNA damage induced by titanium dioxide nanoparticles in toll-like receptor 3 or 4 expressing human hepatocarcinoma cell lines. J. Nanobiotechnology **12**:1–10.

El-Badri AM, Batool M, Wang C, Hashem AM, Tabl KM, Nishawy E, Kuai J, Zhou G, Wang B. 2021. Selenium and zinc oxide nanoparticles modulate the molecular and morpho-physiological processes during seed germination of *Brassica napus* under salt stress. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety 225 (112695) DOI: 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2021.112695.

El-Banna AN, El-Mahrouk ME, Dewir YH, Farid MA, Abou Elyazid DM, Schumacher HM. 2021. Endophytic Bacteria in Banana *in Vitro* Cultures: Molecular Identification, Antibiotic Susceptibility, and Plant Survival. Horticulturae 7 (526) DOI: 10.3390/horticulturae7120526.

Faizan M, Bhat JA, Chen C, Alyemeni MN, Wijaya L, Ahmad P, Yu F. 2021. Zinc oxide nanoparticles (ZnO-NPs) induce salt tolerance by improving the antioxidant system and photosynthetic machinery in tomato. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry **161**:122-130.

Faraz A, Faizan M, Fariduddin Q, Hayat S. 2020. Response of titanium nanoparticles to plant growth: agricultural perspectives. Pages 101-110 in Hayat S, Pichtel J, Faizan M, Fariduddin Q, editors. Sustainable Agriculture Reviews 41: Nanotechnology for Plant Growth and Development. Springer Cham, Switzerland.

Farrokhzad Y, Babaei A, Yadollahi A, Kashkooli AB, Mokhtassi-Bidgoli A, Hessami S. 2022. Informative title: Development of lighting intensity approach for shoot proliferation in *Phalaenopsis amabilis* through combination with silver nanoparticles. Scientia Horticulturae 292 (110582) DOI: 10.1016/j.scienta.2021.110582.

Feizi H, Rezvani Moghaddam, P Shahtahmassebi N. 2012. Impact of Bulk and Nanosized Titanium Dioxide (TiO<sub>2</sub>) on Wheat Seed Germination and Seedling Growth. Biol Trace Elem Res **146**:101–106.

Gaafar R, Diab R, Halawa M, Elshanshory A, El-Shaer A, Hamouda M. 2020. Role of zinc oxide nanoparticles in ameliorating salt tolerance in soybean. Egyptian Journal of Botany **60**:733–747.

Garcia CS, Menti C, Lambert APF, Barcellos T, Moura S, Calloni C, Branco CS, Salvador M, Roesch Ely M, Henriques JA. 2016. Pharmacological perspectives from Brazilian *Salvia officinalis* (*Lamiaceae*): Antioxidant, and antitumor in mammalian cells. Anais da Academia Brasileira de Ciências **88**:281-292.

García-López J, Zavala-García F, Olivares-Sáenz E, Lira-Saldívar R, Díaz Barriga-Castro E, Ruiz-Torres N, Ramos-Cortez E, Vázquez-Alvarado R, Niño-Medina G. 2018. Zinc Oxide Nanoparticles Boosts Phenolic Compounds and Antioxidant Activity of *Capsicum annuum* L. during Germination. Agronomy 8 (215) DOI: 10.3390/agronomy8100215.

Geldner N. 2013. The Endodermis. Annual Review of Plant Biology 64:531-558.

German T, Mengesha B, Philophos M, Mekonne M. 2016. Rosemary Production Guideline. Ethiopian Institute of Agricultural Research (EIAR). Available from: www.nda.agric.za/publications (accessed 2009).

Gharpure S, Ankamwar B. 2020. Synthesis and Antimicrobial Properties of Zinc Oxide Nanoparticles. Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology **20**:5977-5996.

Ghorbani A, Esmaeilizadeh M. 2017. Pharmacological properties of *Salvia officinalis* and its components. Journal of Traditional and Complementary Medicine **7**:433-440.

Giraldo JP, Wu H, Newkirk GM, Kruss S. 2019. Nanobiotechnology approaches for engineering smart plant sensors. Nature Nanotechnology **14**:541-553.

Gkanatsiou BC, Ntalli N, Menkissoglu SU, Dendrinou SC. 2019. Essential Metal-Based Nanoparticles (Copper/Iron NPs) as Potent Nematicidal Agents against Meloidogyne spp. Journal of Nanotechnology Research 1:043–057.

Golami A, Abbaspour H, Hashemi-Moghaddam H, Gerami M. 2018. Photocatalytic effect of TiO<sub>2</sub>, nanoparticles on essential oil of *Rosmarinus officinalis*. Journal of Biochemical Technology **9(4)**: 50-56.

Grunewald W, Bury J, Inzé D. 2013. Thirty years of transgenic plants. Nature 497:40-40.

Gujrati M, Malamas A, Shin T, Jin E, Sun Y, Lu ZR. 2014. Multifunctional Cationic Lipid-Based Nanoparticles Facilitate Endosomal Escape and Reduction-Triggered Cytosolic siRNA Release. Molecular Pharmaceutics **11**:2734-2744.

Hadi JAA, Abass MH. 2021. Efficiency of nanoparticles (titanium dioxide and zinc oxide) in stimulating the growth of different cultivars of wheat plants *Triticum aestivum* L. Basrah Journal of Sciences **39(2)**:306-328.

Hameg R, Arteta TA, Landin M, Gallego PP, Barreal ME. 2020. Modeling and Optimizing Culture Medium Mineral Composition for in vitro Propagation of *Actinidia arguta*. Frontiers in Plant Science 11 (554905) DOI: 10.3389/fpls.2020.554905.

Hanif M, Munir N, Abideen Z, Hong Yong JW, El-Keblawy A, El-Sheikh MA. 2024. Synthesis and optimization of nanoparticles from Phragmites karka improves tomato growth and salinity

resilience. Biocatalysis and Agricultural Biotechnology 55 (102972) DOI: 10.1016/j.bcab.2023.102972.

Hao DC, Xiao PG. 2015. Genomics and Evolution in Traditional Medicinal Plants: Road to a Healthier Life. Evolutionary Bioinformatics **11**:197-212.

Hao ZOV, Gusev AA. 2019. Photocatalytically active zinc oxide and titanium dioxide nanoparticles in clonal micropropagation of plants: Prospects. Nanotechnologies in Russia 14: 311-324.

Helaly MN, El-Metwally MA, El-Hoseiny H, Omar SA, El-Sheery NI. 2014. Effect of NPs on biological contamination of in vitro cultures and organogenic regeneration of banana. Aust J Crop Sci **8**:612–624.

Horison R, Sulaiman FO, Alfredo D, Wardana AA. 2022. Browning inhibition of fresh-cut apple by coating carrageenan/ascorbic acid/ZnO nanoparticles. Food Res **6(2)**:368-373.

Hussain A et al. 2021. Combined use of different nanoparticles effectively decreased cadmium (Cd) concentration in grains of wheat grown in a field contaminated with Cd. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety 215 (112139) DOI: 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2021.112139.

Jaberzadeh A, Moaveni P, Moghadam HRT, Zahedi H. 2013. Influence of Bulk and Nanoparticles Titanium Foliar Application on some Agronomic Traits, Seed Gluten and Starch Contents of Wheat Subjected to Water Deficit Stress. Not. Bot. Horti Agrobot Cluj-Napoca **41**:201–207.

Jampílek J, Králová K. 2017. Nanopesticides: preparation, targeting, and controlled release. Pages 81-127 in A. M. Grumezescu, editor. New Pesticides and Soil Sensors. Academic Press, Romania.

Jarosz M, Pawlik A, Szuwarzyński M, Jaskuła M, Sulka GD. 2016. Nanoporous anodic titanium dioxide layers as potential drug delivery systems: Drug release kinetics and mechanism. Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces **143**:447-454.

Kavand S, Kermani MJ, Haghnazari A, Khosravi P, Azimi MR. 2011. Micropropagation and medium-term conservation of *Rosa pulverulenta*. Acta Scientiarum. Agronomists **33**:297-301.

Khalid MF, Iqbal KR, Jawaid MZ, Shafqat W, Hussain S, Ahmed T, Rizwan M, Ercisli S, Pop OL, Alina MR. 2022. Nanoparticles: the plant saviour under abiotic stresses. Nanomaterials 12 (3915) DOI: 10.3390/nano12213915.

Khan I, Saeed K, Khan I. 2019. Nanoparticles: Properties, applications and toxicities. Arabian Journal of Chemistry **12**:908-931.

Khater MS. 2015. Effect of titanium nanoparticles (TiO<sub>2</sub>) on growth, yield and chemical constituents of coriander plants. Arab. J. Nucl. Sci. Appl **48**: 187–194.

Khongthaw B, Chauhan PK, Dulta K, Kumar V, Ighalo JO .2023. A comparison of conventional and novel phytonutrient extraction techniques from various sources and their potential applications. Food Meas **17**:1317–1342.

Kim DH, Gopal J, Sivanesan I. 2017. Nanomaterials in plant tissue culture: the disclosed and undisclosed. RSC Advances **7**:36492-36505.

Lehmann J, Bossio DA, Kögel-Knabner I, Rillig MC. 2020. The concept and future prospects of soil health. Nat Rev Earth Environ **1**:544–553.

Loyola Vargas VM, Ochoa Alejo N. 2018. An Introduction to Plant Tissue Culture: Advances and Perspectives. Pages 3-13 in Loyola Vargas V, Ochoa Alejo N, editors. Plant Cell Culture Protocols. Methods in Molecular Biology. Humana Press, New York.

Lateef A, Folarin BI, Oladejo SM, Akinola PO, Beukes LS, Gueguim-Kana EB. 2018. Characterization, antimicrobial, antioxidant, and anticoagulant activities of silver nanoparticles synthesized from Petiveria alliacea L. leaf extract Prep. Biochem. Biotechnol **48**:646-652.

Ma H, Brennan A, Diamond SA. 2012. Photocatalytic reactive oxygen species production and phototoxicity of titanium dioxide nanoparticles are dependent on the solar ultraviolet radiation spectrum. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry **31**:2099-2107.

Mihiret M, Begashaw M. 2017. Assessment of yield loss in Rosemary (*Rosmarinus officinalis* L.) and Sage (*Salvia officinalis* L.) plants caused by *Fusarium oxysporum*. African Journal of Agricultural Research **12**:1669-1673.

Mirzajani F, Askari H, Hamzelou S, Farzaneh M, Ghassempour A. 2013. Effect of silver nanoparticles on *Oryza sativa* L. and its rhizosphere bacteria. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety **88**:48-54.

Mokbel SA, Khalil AA, El Shazly MA. 2017. Efficiency of eugenol oil nanoemulsion against banana bunchy top virus and contamination with fungi in plant tissue culture. Arab J. Biotech **20**:33–50.

Mousavi KSM, Lahouti M. 2018. Application of ZnO nanoparticles for inducing callus in tissue culture of rapeseed. International Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology **14**(**2**):133-41.

Murashige T, Skoog F. 1962. A revised medium for rapid groth and bioassays with tabacco tissue cultures. Physiologia Plantarum **15**:473–497.

Nelson MK, Shilling D. 2018. Traditional ecological knowledge: learning from indigenous practices for environmental sustainability. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Ng KK, Zheng G. 2015. Molecular Interactions in Organic Nanoparticles for Phototheranostic Applications. Chemical Reviews **115**:11012-11042.

Nowacka B, Bucheli TD. 2007. Occurrence, behavior and effects of nanoparticles in the environment. Environmental Pollution **150**: 5–22.

Palada MC, Mitchell JM, Becker BN, Nair PKR. 2005. The integration of medicinal plants and culinary herbs in agroforestry systems for the caribbean: a study in the U.S. Virgin Islands. Acta Horticulturae **2**:147-153.

Pan K, Zhong Q. 2016. Organic Nanoparticles in Foods: Fabrication, Characterization, and Utilization. Annual Review of Food Science and Technology **7**:245-266.

Pandey AK, Kumar P, Singh P, Tripathi NN, Bajpai VK. 2017. Essential Oils: Sources of Antimicrobials and Food Preservatives. Frontiers in Microbiology 7 (02161) DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2016.02161.

Peralta-Videa JR, Hernandez-Viezcas JA, Zhao L, Diaz BC, Ge Y, Priester JH, Holden PA, Gardea-Torresdey JL. 2014. Cerium dioxide and zinc oxide nanoparticles alter the nutritional value of soil cultivated soybean plants. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry **80**:128-135.

Pérez-de-Luque A. 2017. Interaction of Nanomaterials with Plants: What Do we Need for Real Applications in Agriculture? Frontiers in Environmental Science 5 (12) DOI: 10.3389/fenvs.2017.00012.

Permadi N, Nurzaman M, Alhasnawi AN, Doni F, Julaeha E. 2023. Managing Lethal Browning and Microbial Contamination in *Musa* spp. Tissue Culture: Synthesis and Perspectives. Horticulturae 9 (453) DOI: 10.3390/horticulturae9040453.

Perry NSL, Houghton PJ, Theobald A, Jenner P, Perry EK. 2000. In-vitro Inhibition of Human Erythrocyte Acetylcholinesterase by *Salvia lavandulaefolia* Essential Oil and Constituent Terpenes. Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology **52**:895-902.

Plant production directorate. 2012. Rosemary production guideline. Department of agriculture, forestry and fisheries. Republic of South Africa.

Prasad TNVKV, Sudhakar P, Sreenivasulu Y, Latha P, Munaswamy V, Reddy KR, Sreeprasad TS, Sajanlal PR, Pradeep T. 2012. Effect of nanoscale zinc oxide particles on the germination, growth and yield of peanut. Journal of Plant Nutrition **35**:905-927.

Qi M, Liu Y, Li T. 2013. Nano-TiO<sub>2</sub> Improve the Photosynthesis of Tomato Leaves under Mild Heat Stress. Biol Trace Elem Res **156**:323–328.

Raliya R, Biswas P, Tarafdar JC. 2015. TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticle biosynthesis and its physiological effect on mung bean (*Vigna radiata* L.). Biotechnology Reports **5**:22-26.

Raliya R, Nair R, Chavalmane S, Wang WN, Biswas P. 2015. Mechanistic evaluation of translocation and physiological impact of titanium dioxide and zinc oxide nanoparticles on the tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum* L.) plant. Metallomics **7**:1584-1594.

Ramadan T. 2022. The combined effect of water deficit stress and  $TiO_2$  nanoparticles on cell membrane and antioxidant enzymes in *Helianthus annuus* L. Physiol Mol Biol Plants **28(2)**:391–409.

Rameshaiah GN, Pallavi J, Shabnam S. 2015. Nano fertilizers and nano sensors–an attempt for developing smart agriculture. Int. J. Engineer **3**:314-320.

Rašković A, Milanović I, Pavlović N, Čebović T, Vukmirović S, Mikov M. 2014. Antioxidant activity of rosemary (*Rosmarinus officinalis* L.) essential oil and its hepatoprotective potential. BMC Complement. Altern. Med.14 (225) DOI: 10.1186/1472-6882-14-225.

Rehman A, Weng J, Li P, Shah IH, Rahman S, Khalid M, Manzoor MA, Chang L, Niu Q. 2023. Green synthesized zinc oxide nanoparticles confer drought tolerance in melon (*Cucumis melo* L.). Environmental and Experimental Botany 212 (105384) DOI: 10.1016/j.envexpbot.2023.105384.

Ribeiro-Santos R, Carvalho-Costa D, Cavaleiro C, Costa HS, Albuquerque TG, Castilho MC, Ramos F, Melo NR, Sanches-Silva A. 2015. A novel insight on an ancient aromatic plant: The rosemary (*Rosmarinus officinalis* L.). Trends in Food Science & Technology **45**:355-368.

Rizwana H, Bokahri NA, Rashed SA, Shehri SA, Awad MA, Merghani N, Tabasuum H. 2022. Characterizing silver nanoparticles biosynthesized from Salvia rosmarinus and assessing their in vitro antifungal and cytotoxic activities against phytopathogens and cervical cells. Journal of Animal & Plant Sciences **32(3)**:764-774.

RM Slawson, H Lee, JT Trevors. 1990. Colloid Interface Sci 275: 177–182.

Rout GR, Mohapatra A, Jain SM. 2006. Tissue culture of ornamental pot plant: A critical review on present scenario and future prospects. Biotechnology Advances **24**:531-560.

Rout GR, Samantaray S, Das P. 2000. In vitro manipulation and propagation of medicinal plants. Biotechnology Advances **18**:91-120.

Salama DM, Osman SA, Abd El-Aziz ME, Abd Elwahed MSA, Shaaban EA. 2019. Effect of zinc oxide nanoparticles on the growth, genomic DNA, production and the quality of common dry bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*). Biocatalysis and Agricultural Biotechnology 18 (101083) DOI: 10.1016/j.bcab.2019.101083.

Santos RD, Shetty K, Cecchini AL, Miglioranza LH da S. 2012. Phenolic compounds and total antioxidant activity determination in rosemary and oregano extracts and its use in cheese spread. Semina: Ciências Agrárias **33**:655-666.

Sarkic A, Stappen I. 2018. Essential Oils and Their Single Compounds in Cosmetics-A Critical Review. Cosmetics 5 (11) DOI: 10.3390/cosmetics5010011.

Sasikumar B. 2012. Rosemary. Pages 452-468 in KV Peter, editor. Woodhead Publishing Series in Food Science, Technology and Nutrition: Hand book of Herbs and Spices. Woodhead Publishing,

Sasson Y, Levy Ruso G, Toledano O, Ishaaya I. 2007. Nanosuspensions: emerging novel agrochemical formulations. Pages 1-39 in Ishaaya I, Horowitz AR, Nauen R, editors. Insecticides Design Using Advanced Technologies. Springer, Berlin.

Schwab F, Zhai G, Kern M, Turner A, Schnoor JL, Wiesner MR. 2016. Barriers, pathways and processes for uptake, translocation and accumulation of nanomaterials in plants – Critical review. Nanotoxicology **10**:257-278.

Şeker S, Çakaloğulları U, Bayram E, Tatar Ö. 2023. Production of sage, oregano and rosemary under shading conditions and the effects of light on growth and essential oil properties. Industrial Crops and Products 193 (116254) DOI: 10.1016/j.indcrop.2023.116254.

Seleiman MF, Al-Selwey WA, Ibrahim AA, Shady M, Alsadon AA. 2023. Foliar Applications of ZnO and SiO<sub>2</sub> Nanoparticles Mitigate Water Deficit and Enhance Potato Yield and Quality Traits.

Agronomy 13 (466) DOI: 10.3390/agronomy13020466.

Shafique N, Jabeen KS, Ahmad S, Irum S, Anwaar N, Ahmad S, Alam M, Ilyas TF, Khan SZ, Hussain S. 2020. Green fabricated zinc oxide nanoformulated media enhanced callus induction and regeneration dynamics of *Panicum virgatum* L. PLoS One 15 (0230464) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0230464.

Shafique S et al. 2020. Green fabricated zinc oxide nanoformulated media enhanced callus induction and regeneration dynamics of *Panicum virgatum* L. PLOS ONE **15**:1-14.

Shang Y, Hasan MK, Ahammed GJ, Li M, Yin H, Zhou J. 2019. Applications of Nanotechnology in Plant Growth and Crop Protection: A Review. Molecules 24 (2558) DOI: 10.3390/molecules24142558.

Shimira F, Zahid G, Nyirahabimana F. 2022. An Overview and Renewed Emphasis on Ethnopharmacology of Rosemary (*Salvia Rosmarinus*). Current Perspectives on Medicinal and Aromatic Plants (CUPMAP) **5(1)**: 30-41.

Siddiqi KS, Husen A. 2017. Plant response to engineered metal oxide nanoparticles. Nanoscale research letters **12**:1-18.

Silva RM, TeeSy C, Franzi L, Weir A, Westerhoff P, Evans JE, Pinkerton KE. 2013. Biological Response to Nano-Scale Titanium Dioxide (TiO<sub>2</sub>): Role of Particle Dose, Shape, and Retention. Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part A **76**:953-972.

Singh D, Verma SK. 2023. Impacts of Particulate Matter Pollution on Plants. Pages 483-500 in Aftab T, editor. New Frontiers in Plant-Environment Interactions. Environmental Science and Engineering. Springer, Cham, India.

Singh P, Arif Y, Siddiqui H, Sami F, Zaidi R, Azam A, Alam P, Hayat S. 2021. Nanoparticles enhances the salinity toxicity tolerance in *Linum usitatissimum* L. by modulating the antioxidative enzymes, photosynthetic efficiency, redox status and cellular damage. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety 213 (112020) DOI: 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2021.112020.

Sivanesan I, Park SW. 2015. Optimizing factors affecting adventitious shoot regeneration, in vitro flowering and fruiting of *Withania somnifera* (L.) Dunal. Industrial Crops and Products **76**:323-328.

Skočibušić M, Bezić N, Dunkić V. 2006. Phytochemical composition and antimicrobial activities of the essential oils from *Satureja subspicata* Vis. growing in Croatia. Food Chemistry **96**: 20–28.

Spielman-Sun E, Avellan A, Bland GD, Clement ET, Tappero RV, Acerbo AS, Lowry GV. 2020. Protein coating composition targets nanoparticles to leaf stomata and trichomes. Nanoscale **12**:3630-3636.

Sturikova, Krystofova George EF, Hall MA, De Klerk GJ. 2008. Plant Propagation by Tissue Culture (3rd edition), Springer, Dordrecht, Basingstoke, UK.

Su Y, Ashworth V, Kim C, Adeleye AS, Rolshausen P, Roper C, White J, Jassby D. 2019. Delivery, uptake, fate, and transport of engineered nanoparticles in plants: a critical review and data analysis. Environmental Science: Nano **6**:2311-2331.

Sun S, Murray CB, Weller D, Folks L, Moser A. 2000. Monodisperse FePt Nanoparticles and Ferromagnetic FePt Nanocrystal Superlattices. Science **287**:1989-1992.

Tan W. 2017. Surface coating changes the physiological and biochemical impacts of nano-TiO<sub>2</sub> in basil (*Ocimum basilicum*) plants. Environmental Pollution **222**:64-72.

Tarafdar JC, Xiong Y, Wang WN, Quinl D, Biswas P. 2012. Standardization of size, shape and concentration of nanoparticle for plant application. Appl. Biol. Res. **14**:138–144.

Thangamani N, Bhuvaneshwari N. 2019. Green synthesis of gold nanoparticles using Simarouba glauca leaf extract and their biological activity of micro-organism. Chemical Physics Letters 732 (136587) DOI: 10.1016/j.cplett.2019.07.015.

Thomas SC. 2015. Ceramic Nanoparticles: Fabrication Methods and Applications in Drug Delivery. Curr Pharm Des **21(42):**6165–6188.

Thorpe TA. 2007. History of plant tissue culture. Mol Biotechnol 37:169–180.

Thunugunta T, Channa Reddy A, Kodthalu Seetharamaiah S, Ramanna Hunashikatti L, Gowdra Chandrappa S, Cherukatu Kalathil N, Dhoranapalli Chinnappa Reddy LR. 2018. Impact of Zinc oxide nanoparticles on eggplant (*S. melongena*): studies on growth and the accumulation of nanoparticles. IET Nanobiotechnology **12**:706-713.

Vanhaeren H, Inzé D, Gonzalez N. 2016. Plant Growth beyond Limits. Trends in Plant Science **21**:102-109.

Vasyukova I, Gusev A, Zakharova O, Baranchikov P, Yevtushenko N. 2021. Silver nanoparticles for enhancing the efficiency of micropropagation of gray poplar (*Populus × canescens Aiton*. Sm.). IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science 875 (12053) DOI: 10.1088/1755-

#### 1315/875/1/012053.

Waani SPT, Irum S, Gul I, Yaqoob K, Khalid MU, Ali MA, Arshad M. 2021. TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles dose, application method and phosphorous levels influence genotoxicity in Rice (*Oryza* sativa L.), soil enzymatic activities and plant growth. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety **213**: 111977.

Wang L, Hu C, Shao L. 2017. The Antimicrobial Activity of Nanoparticles: Present Situation and Prospects for the Future. Int. J. Nanomedicine **12**:1227–1249.

Wagay OA, Khan S, Rafeeq J, Pala NA, Bhat GM, Dutt V, Mugloo JA. 2023. Nanotechnology and its potential application in forest and forest-based industries: a review. SKUAST Journal of Research **25**(**4**):527-537.

Wang Y, Li K, Song X, Chen J. 2016. Characterization and Comparative Expression Profiling of Browning Response in Medinilla formosana after Cutting. Frontiers in Plant Science 7 (1897) DOI: 10.3389/fpls.2016.01897.

Xia J, Diao K, Zheng Z, Cui X. 2017. Porous Au/ZnO nanoparticles synthesized through a metal organic framework (MOF) route for enhanced acetone gas-sensing. RSC Advances **7**:38444-38451.

Xu L, Huang H. 2014. Genetic and epigenetic controls of plant regeneration. Current topics in developmental biology **108**:1-33.

Yao KS, Li SJ, Tzeng KC, Cheng TC, Chang CY, Chiu CY, Liao CY, Hsu JJ, Lin ZP. 2009. Fluorescence Silica Nanoprobe as a Biomarker for Rapid Detection of Plant Pathogens. Advanced Materials Research **79-82**:513-516.

Yu L, Chen X, Wang Z, Wang S, Wang Y, Zhu Q, Li S, Xiang C. 2013. Arabidopsis Enhanced Drought Tolerance1/HOMEODOMAIN GLABROUS11 Confers Drought Tolerance in Transgenic Rice without Yield Penalty. Plant Physiology **162**:1378-1391.

Zafar H, Ali A, Ali JS, Haq IU, Zia M. 2016. Effect of ZnO Nanoparticles on *Brassica nigra* Seedlings and Stem Explants: Growth Dynamics and Antioxidative Response. Frontiers in Plant Science 7 (535) DOI: 10.3389/fpls.2016.00535.

Zakharova OV, Gusev AA. 2019. Photocatalytically active zinc oxide and titanium dioxide nanoparticles in clonal micropropagation of plants: Prospects. Nanotechnologies in Russia **14**:311-324.

Zhao X, Meng Z, Wang Y, Chen W, Sun C, Cui B, Cui H. 2017. Pollen magnetofection for genetic modification with magnetic nanoparticles as gene carriers. Nature plants **3(12)**:956-964.

Zhou Y, Quan G, Wu Q, Zhang X, Niu B, Wu B, Huang Y, Pan X, Wu C. 2018. Mesoporous silica nanoparticles for drug and gene delivery. Acta Pharmaceutica Sinica **8**:165-177.

Zhumaliyeva G. 2023. Natural Compounds of *Salvia* L. Genus and Molecular Mechanism of Their Biological Activity. Biomedicines 11 (3151) DOI: 10.3390/biomedicines11123151.

Zigene M et al. 2023. *Leucophyllum frutescens* (Texas Sage): Botanical Characteristics and Ecological Adaptations. Journal of Southwestern Botany **15(2):55-67**.

Zulfiqar F, Ashraf M. 2021. Nanoparticles potentially mediate salt stress tolerance in plants. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry **160**:257-268.